Provided for non-commercial research and education use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.



This article appeared in a journal published by Elsevier. The attached copy is furnished to the author for internal non-commercial research and education use, including for instruction at the authors institution and sharing with colleagues.

Other uses, including reproduction and distribution, or selling or licensing copies, or posting to personal, institutional or third party websites are prohibited.

In most cases authors are permitted to post their version of the article (e.g. in Word or Tex form) to their personal website or institutional repository. Authors requiring further information regarding Elsevier's archiving and manuscript policies are encouraged to visit:

http://www.elsevier.com/copyright

Earth-Science Reviews 102 (2010) 60-76

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Earth-Science Reviews



EARTH-SCIENCE

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/earscirev

A key extensional metamorphic complex reviewed and restored: The Menderes Massif of western Turkey

Douwe J.J. van Hinsbergen *

Physics of Geological Processes, University of Oslo, Sem Sælands vei 24, 0316 Oslo, Norway

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 November 2009 Accepted 27 May 2010 Available online 4 June 2010

Keywords: extension exhumation metamorphic core complex Aegean roll-back back-arc extension

ABSTRACT

This paper provides a review of the structure and metamorphism of the Menderes Massif in western Turkey, and subsequently a map-view restoration of its Neogene unroofing history. Exhumation of this massif — among the largest continental extensional provinces in the world — is generally considered to have occurred along extensional detachments with a NE–SW stretching direction. Restoration of the early Miocene history, however, shows that these extensional detachments can only explain part of the exhumation history of the Menderes Massif, and that NE–SW stretching can only be held accountable for half, or less, of the exhumation.

Restoration back to ~15 Ma is relatively straightforward, and is mainly characterised by a previously reported $25-30^{\circ}$ vertical axis rotation difference between the northern Menderes Massif, and the Southern Menderes Massif and overlying HP nappes, Lycian Nappes and Bey Dağları about a pivot point close to Denizli. To the west of this pole, the rotation was accommodated by exhumation of the Central Menderes core complex since middle Miocene times, and to the east probably by shortening.

At the end of the early Miocene, the Menderes Massif formed a rectangular, NE-SW trending tectonic window of \sim 150 \times 100 km. Geochronology suggests unroofing between \sim 25 and 15 Ma. The north-eastern Menderes Massif was exhumed along the early Miocene Simav detachment, over a distance of \leq 50 km. The accommodation of the remainder of the exhumation is enigmatic, but penetrative NE-SW stretching lineations throughout the Menderes Massif suggest a prominent role of NE-SW extension. This, however, requires that the eastern margin of the Menderes Massif, bordering a region without significant extension, is a transform fault with an offset of ~150 km, cutting through the Lycian Nappes. For this, there is no evidence. The Lycian Nappes – a non-metamorphic stack of sedimentary thrust slices and an overlying ophiolite and ophiolitic mélange - have been previously shown to thrust to the SE between 23 and 15 Ma over at least 75 km. This is contemporaneous with, and orthogonal to stretching along the Simav detachment. I here argue that the amount of SE-wards displacement of the Lycian Nappes was twice the minimum amount of 75 km, which would restore them back on top of most of the Menderes Massif, apart from the \sim 50 km unroofed along the Simav detachment. A decollement was likely formed by a high-pressure, low-temperature metamorphosed nappe immediately underlying the Lycian Nappes in the north - the Ören unit. Latest Oligocene to early Miocene fission track ages of the Menderes Massif, as well as NE-SW trending lower Miocene grabens on the Massif are in line with this hypothesis.

The main implications of this restoration are that 1) the eastern part of the Aegean back-arc accommodated not more than 50 km of NE–SW extension in the early Miocene, and 2) any pre-Miocene exhumation of the Menderes Massif cannot be attributed to the known extensional detachments. The restoration in this paper suggests that most of the Menderes Massif already resided at upper crustal levels at the inception of extensional detachment faulting, a situation reminiscent of the role of extensional detachments on the island of Crete.

© 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 61
2.	Regional geodynamic setting	. 64

* Tel.: +47 22856487.

E-mail address: d.v.hinsbergen@fys.uio.no.

0012-8252/\$ - see front matter © 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.earscirev.2010.05.005

3.	Geological history of the Menderes Massif.	64
	3.1. Pre-Neogene structure and metamorphism of the Menderes Massif	64
	3.2. Neogene extensional detachments and exhumation	66
4.	The Lycian Nappes and the Ören unit	67
5.	Analysis: a restoration	67
	5.1. Reconstruction back to ~15 Ma	67
	5.2. Identification of the early Miocene exhumation problem.	70
	5.3. A working hypothesis for the early Miocene unroofing history of the Menderes Massif	70
	5.4. Kinematic requirements and predictions	70
	5.5. Implications for exhumation mechanisms of metamorphic rocks	71
	5.6. Geodynamic implications	71
6.	Conclusions	72
Ackı	mowledgements	72
App	pendix A. Supplementary Data	72
Refe	erences	72

1. Introduction

Much remains to be understood about continental extension and exhumation of metamorphic rocks to the surface, particularly in subduction zone settings. The eastern Mediterranean orogenic belt between the Eurasian and African–Arabian plates (Fig. 1) has been instrumental in the development and the testing of exhumation scenarios of high-pressure, low temperature (HP-LT), as well as high-temperature, low pressure (HT-LP) metamorphic rocks (Lister et al., 1984; Buick and Holland, 1989; Thomson et al., 1999; Jolivet et al., 2003, 2009, 2010a; Ring et al., 2007a, b, 2010; Brun and Faccenna, 2008; Ring and Kumerics, 2008; Jolivet and Brun, 2010). There is a general agreement that exhumation of metamorphic rocks in subduction systems normally occurs in two stages, the first one driven by buoyancy (or upward extrusion) of metamorphosed rocks along the subduction zone (Chemenda et al., 1995; Jolivet et al., 2003; Ring and Layer, 2003; Ring et al., 2010), followed by 'classical' core complex style exhumation during crustal extension (Crittenden et al., 1980; Wernicke, 1981; Davis, 1983) to transport the rocks from mid-crustal depth to the surface.

Critical to the analysis of the geodynamic and kinematic evolution of crustal extension in the eastern Mediterranean is the Aegean–west Anatolian extensional region, comprising the Greek Cycladic Massif, and western Turkish Menderes Massif, which is among the best studied continental extensional provinces in the world. It is the purpose of this paper to provide the first map-view restoration of western Turkey, and in particular of the portion of exhumation of the Menderes Massif that can be ascribed to extensional detachments since the late Oligocene.

The Menderes Massif is exposed in a tectonic window of approximately 200×100 km exposing metamorphic rocks that were derived from a micro-continental block (the Anatolide-Tauride Block) that underwent Eocene underthrusting below, and collision with the Sakarya continent of northwestern Turkey (belonging to Eurasia since the Mesozoic) (Şengör and Yılmaz, 1981; Kaymakci et al., 2009; Torsvik and Cocks, 2009). It exposes, and is overlain by metamorphosed rocks that provide evidence for periods of HP-LT, as well as HT-LP metamorphism (Oberhänsli et al., 1997; Candan et al., 2001; Rimmelé et al., 2003b; Whitney et al., 2008). Timing of the metamorphic events is highly controversial, and will be reviewed below, but consensus exists that during the Cenozoic, the Menderes Massif experienced at least regional greenschist-facies metamorphism (Gessner et al., 2001c; Ring et al., 2003; Bozkurt, 2007). Neogene exhumation of these rocks to the surface has been attributed to the activity of extensional detachments, with preserved NE-SW to N-S stretching lineations (Sengör et al., 1984; Hetzel et al., 1995a, b; Bozkurt, 2000; Bozkurt and Oberhänsli, 2001; Işık and Tekeli, 2001; Ring et al., 2003; Seyitoğlu et al., 2004), in line with the general stretching trend of the greater Aegean extensional province (Jolivet et al., 2004: Jolivet and Brun, 2010b: Tirel et al., 2009: Ring et al., 2010). The Massif is surrounded by metamorphosed and nonmetamorphosed older, structurally higher thrust slices. These are (1) the Bornova Flysch zone in the NW, a chaotic mélange of late Cretaceous age that formed during accretion and subduction prior to underthrusting of the Menderes Massif (Okay and Altiner, 2007); (2) the HP-LT metamorphic Afyon zone, comprising coherent thrust slices with metasediments and Pan-African basement, which reached blueschist facies metamorphic conditions in latest Cretaceous to Paleocene times (350 °C/6-9 kbar; Candan et al., 2005; Pourteau et al., 2010) and the overlying, older and higher pressure Tavşanlı zone, which consists of metasedimentary, and mélange-like HP-LT series that includes intervals metamorphosed under blueschist and eclogite-facies metamorphism, with climax P-T conditions up to ~430 °C/20 kbar, exhumed after 88 Ma (Okay et al., 1998; Sherlock et al., 1999). The Tavşanlı zone is overlain by ophiolites of the İzmir-Ankara suture zone that demarcate the suture of a strand of the Neo-Tethyan ocean that separated the Sakarya and Anatolide-Tauride blocks in the Mesozoic (Sengör and Yılmaz, 1981; Moix et al., 2008). Metamorphic soles of the İzmir-Ankara zone are ~95-90 Ma (Önen and Hall, 2000; Çelik et al., 2006) marking the minimum age for the onset of subduction between the Anatolide-Tauride and Sakarya blocks; (3) in the west, the Menderes Massif is overthrusted by the HP-LT Dilek Nappe (500 °C/15 kbar; Ring et al., 2007b) and overlying Selcuk ophiolitic mélange, which are correlated to the Cycladic Blueschist unit and overlying mélange of the Aegean region (Candan et al., 1997; Oberhänsli et al., 1997, 1998; Ring et al., 1999b). These give ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar ages of 42–32 Ma (Ring et al., 2007b). The Dilek– Selçuk nappe is overlain by klippen of the Ören HP-LT unit (see below) (Rimmelé et al., 2006); (4) in the south, the top of the Menderes Massif is formed by a metasedimentary sequence including upper Paleozoic to lower Mesozoic rocks (Erdoğan and Güngör, 2004) with metamorphic conditions of up to 550 °C/6-8 kbar (Whitney and Bozkurt, 2002), termed the Selimiye unit (or nappe) by Gessner et al., 2001b; Régnier et al., 2003). This unit is overlain by magnesiocarpholite-bearing, Paleozoic to Eocene HP-LT (up to 470-500 °C/12-14 kbar, Rimmelé et al., 2003b; Whitney et al., 2008) metasediments that are either considered to belong to the Menderes Massif (e.g. Bozkurt, 2007), or alternatively as a separate HP-nappe, correlated with the Dilek Nappe/ Cycladic blueschist unit (Régnier et al., 2007). This unit is separated by a metamorphosed ophiolitic mélange that may be correlated to the Selçuk mélange (Régnier et al., 2007), from an overthrusting series of Mesozoic to Eocene low-grade, magnesiocarpholite-bearing metasediments (up to 400 °C/10–12 kbar, Rimmelé et al., 2005), classically included as a metamorphosed part into the Lycian Nappes, but recently separately identified as the Ören unit, correlated with the Afyon zone to the north (Pourteau et al., 2010). Preliminary ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar ages suggested a latest Cretaceous age of metamorphism (Ring and Layer, 2003). Finally, the Ören unit is overlain by the Lycian Nappes in the south and east

61

D.J.J. van Hinsbergen / Earth-Science Reviews 102 (2010) 60-76



Fig. 1. Major terranes in the Aegean and Anatolian regions, modified after Moix et al. (2008). Afyon/mln/dn = Afyon zone, metamorphosed Lycian Nappes and Dilek Nappe; CCC = Cycladic Core Complex; NAFZ = North Anatolian Fault Zone; NAT = North Aegean Trough; PST = Pliny and Strabo Trenches (South Aegean left-lateral strike-slip system); RCC = Rhodope core complex; SACC = South Aegean Crystalline Complex.

(Bernoulli et al., 1974), characterised by NE–SW trending, SE verging thrust slices of Paleozoic to Paleocene sedimentary rocks, ophiolitic melange and ophiolites, correlatable with the Bornova Flysch zone and Izmir–Ankara ophiolites north and west of the Menderes Massif (Okay, 1989; Collins and Robertson, 1997, 1998, 1999; Rimmelé et al., 2003a, 2005, 2006; Candan et al., 2005). To the southeast the Lycian Nappes overthrust the Bey Dağları carbonate platform, which may be the unmetamorphosed equivalent of the Menderes Massif (Hayward, 1984b; Collins and Robertson, 1998; van Hinsbergen et al, 2010b; Fig. 2).

There is a wealth of published information on the structure, metamorphism, geochronology, stratigraphy and paleomagnetically determined vertical axis rotations of this region. This paper reviews the structure and metamorphism of the Menderes Massif and overlying HP–LT nappes, and attempts to provide a restoration of western Turkey back to ~25 Ma, which is generally considered as the time of the onset of extensional exhumation of the Menderes Massif (Bozkurt and Oberhänsli, 2001; Gessner et al., 2001a; Ring et al., 2003). The NE–SW trending stretching lineations (corrected for

Miocene vertical axis rotations, van Hinsbergen et al., 2010a) that are found throughout the Menderes Massif, both on ductile-to-brittle extensional detachments as well as within only ductily deformed rock units support a generally accepted history of NE–SW extensional unroofing of the Menderes Massif (Bozkurt and Park, 1994; Régnier et al., 2003; Ring et al., 2003; Seyitoğlu et al., 2004). This paper, however, will show that such a simple NE–SW unroofing history of the Menderes Massif in early Miocene times is impossible to reconstruct because essential large-displacement transform faults that are required for such a scenario are absent. I will therefore present an alternative (adjusted) unroofing model, with major implications for the amount of exhumation that can be explained by the known extensional structures.

Structural, geochonological, stratigraphic and paleomagnetic constraints on the Neogene evolution of western Turkey are reviewed, followed by a reconstruction of the region back to ~15 Ma, which is relatively straightforward. This is followed by a new kinematic scenario for the early Miocene.

D.J.J. van Hinsbergen / Earth-Science Reviews 102 (2010) 60-76



Fig. 2. Geological map of western Turkey, with schematic cross sections, based on the geological map of Turkey (MTA, 2002), with nappe subdivision in the Menderes Massif following Gessner et al. (2001b) and Régnier et al. (2007). The Dilek nappe in the southern Menderes Massif is based on the presence or absence of magnesiocarpholite and metabauxite, taken from the compilation of Rimmelé et al. (2003b). Arrows indicate shear sense with arrowhead pointing the direction of the tectonic top. AD = Alaşehir Detachment; BMD = Büyük Menderes Detachment; SD = Simav Detachment.

64

D.J.J. van Hinsbergen / Earth-Science Reviews 102 (2010) 60-76

2. Regional geodynamic setting

The eastern Mediterranean region has been an active margin since at least Mesozoic times related to the closure of the Neo-Tethyan ocean, and the convergence between Africa and Eurasia since the Cretaceous (Dercourt et al., 2000; Stampfli and Borel, 2004; Barrier and Vrielynck, 2008; Torsvik et al., 2008). The structural and metamorphic history of the eastern Mediterranean region since at middle Cretaceous times resulted from convergence between Africa and Eurasia, and the accretion of rocks subducting continental or oceanic lithosphere (Şengör and Yılmaz, 1981; Faccenna et al., 2003; van Hinsbergen et al., 2005a; Hafkenscheid et al., 2006; Jolivet and Brun, 2010). The geology of western Turkey reflects the convergence since ~95-90 Ma between the Anatolide-Tauride block of Gondwanan origin (Kröner and Şengör, 1990; Hetzel and Reischmann, 1996; Gessner et al., 2004) in the south, and the Sakarya block that belonged to Mesozoic Eurasia (Topuz et al., 2007; Bozkurt et al., 2008; Okay et al., 2008a, b; Torsvik and Cocks, 2009) in the north (Figs. 1 and 2), and the accretion of thrust slices during subduction of the intervening branch of the Neo-Tethyan Ocean and the Anatolide-Tauride passive margin. The Anatolide-Tauride block collided with Sakarya in the Eocene (~40 Ma, Şengör and Yılmaz, 1981; Kaymakci et al., 2009) after which the Africa-Europe convergence was accommodated to the south, and western Turkey underwent exhumation and eventually Miocene extension (Sengör et al., 1984).

The general consensus is that lithospheric extension in the Aegean and west Anatolian region started approximately 25 Ma ago (Gautier et al., 1999; Jolivet, 2001; Tirel et al., 2009; Ring and Glodny, 2010; Ring et al., 2010), if not before, e.g. in the Rhodope (Burchfiel et al., 2008; Jolivet and Brun, 2010; Georgiev et al., 2010), and that extension relates to roll-back of the Aegean slab (Le Pichon et al., 1982; Meulenkamp et al., 1988; Spakman et al., 1988). There has been a long-standing debate on the role of westward extrusion of Anatolia as a result of Arabian indentation further east as cause for N-S extension in the region (Dewey and Sengör, 1979; Sengör et al., 1985), but the recent recognition of a late Miocene age for this collision (Keskin, 2003; Hüsing et al., 2009), an 11 Ma onset of formation of the North Anatolian Fault Zone (Hubert-Ferrari et al., 2002; Şengör et al., 2005), and the fact that the bulk of its displacement is Pliocene in age (Hubert-Ferrari et al., 2009) shows that this process has made little contribution to the early Miocene history of the Aegean and west Anatolian regions.

In modern times, the Aegean subducting slab is delimited in the southeast along a NE–SW trending subduction transform edge propagator (STEP) fault that accommodates southwestward rollback of the Aegean slab with respect to the African lithosphere (Govers and Wortel, 2005). The surface expression of this STEP fault is formed by the left-lateral Pliny and Strabo strike-slip faults in offshore southeastern Greece (Peters and Huson, 1985; Mascle et al., 1999; Woodside et al., 2000; Fig. 2), which started some 5 Ma ago (Woodside et al., 2000; van Hinsbergen et al., 2007; Zachariasse et al., 2008). Based on the sharp transition of extension in the Menderes Massif to no Miocene extension to its east, van Hinsbergen et al. (2010a) postulated that roll-back of the Aegean slab was already bounded by this slab edge since the early Miocene, and that the eastern limit of the Menderes Massif may have been bounded by a STEP fault in this time.

3. Geological history of the Menderes Massif

3.1. Pre-Neogene structure and metamorphism of the Menderes Massif

The Menderes Massif is a series of crystalline rock units with a complex Alpine, and partly Pan-African metamorphic, igneous and structural history (Bozkurt et al., 1993; Bozkurt and Park, 1994, 1997; Satır and Friedrichsen, 1986; Hetzel and Reischmann, 1996; Loos and

Reischmann, 1999; Bozkurt and Oberhänsli, 2001; Ring et al., 2003; Gessner et al., 2001b, 2004). Schuiling (1962) classically subdivided the Menderes Massif into a 'core' of augen gneisses, and a metasedimentary 'cover'. This simple subdivision has been shown to be incorrect (e.g. Bozkurt et al., 1993; Gessner et al, 2001b). Among other lines of evidence, the most compelling argument against the classical corecover interpretation was found by Gessner et al. (2001b), who showed that the deepest structural level of the Menderes Massif, consists of (rudist-bearing, Özer and Sözbilir, 2001) metasedimentary rocks termed the Bayındır Nappe - which have the lowest metamorphic grade in the Menderes Massif (greenschist-facies, biotite grade, Gessner et al., 2001b; Okay, 2001). These are overlain by higher-grade, and older units, the foliation of which was intruded by Triassic and Pan-African granitoids (Gessner et al., 2001c, 2004). The contact between the Bayındır unit and the overlying units is hence by definition a thrust postdating the late Cretaceous (based on the rudists). Three lithostratigraphic, regionally mappable units comprise the higher parts of the Menderes Massif, which were also considered to be Alpine nappes by Gessner et al (2001b): the metasedimentary Bozdağ unit, with metamorphic conditions of unknown age reaching ~530 °C/8 kbar (Okay, 2001). The foliation of the Bozdağ unit is intruded by Triassic granitoids (Gessner et al., 2001c). It is overlain by the Çine unit that contains the augen gneisses recognised by Schuiling (1962), and finally the Selimiye unit mentioned in the introduction.

The augen gneisses of the Cine unit have Pan-African (~550 Ma) protoliths (Hetzel and Reischmann, 1996; Loos and Reischmann, 1999) and have intrusive relationships with metasedimentary rocks of the Cine unit (Bozkurt et al., 1993). Both lithologies have a generally welldeveloped foliation that is regionally consistent across most of the Menderes massif, and is flat-lying, with a very consistent N(E)-S(W) stretching lineation associated with top-to-the-north sense of shear (Fig. 2) (Bozkurt and Oberhänsli, 2001). This foliation is in places intruded by weakly deformed Pan-African granites (Gessner et al., 2004). The Çine unit experienced regional HT-LP metamorphism (see e.g. Akkök, 1983; Bozkurt and Park, 1999; Bozkurt and Oberhänsli, 2001). Locally, the augen gneisses contain mafic inclusions metamorphosed to eclogite (640 °C/15 kbar), overprinted under Barrovian conditions (620 °C/7 kbar), associated with the regional HT-LP metamorphism of the Çine unit (Oberhänsli et al., 1997, in press; Candan et al., 2001). Both the eclogites, as well as the metasediments of the Çine unit provide geochronological evidence for Pan-African metamorphism, e.g. through dating of monazite inclusions in garnet (Catlos and Cemen, 2005; Oberhänsli et al., in press). ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar and Rb/Sr cooling ages, which are exclusively Eocene or younger, date cooling below ~350 °C (Satır and Friedrichsen, 1986; Bozkurt and Satır, 2000; Lips et al., 2001), and are unable to discern between Alpine greenschist or amphibolitefacies metamorphism of the Çine and deeper units. No conclusive evidence exists in support of Alpine amphibolite-facies metamorphism in the Menderes Massif to date.

The Selimiye unit has a Permo-Triassic stratigraphy (Erdoğan and Güngör, 2004) and its metamorphism – with conditions of up to 550 °C/6-8 kbar (Whitney and Bozkurt, 2002), or slightly lower pressures (4 kbar, Régnier et al., 2003) - is associated with the Alpine orogeny (Gessner et al., 2001b). The Çine-Selimiye contact may have been an unconformity between Pan-African basement and Tethyan sediments, but is at present a top-to-the-south shear zone containing Eocene granitoid sills (Bozkurt, 2004), that may be extensional (Bozkurt and Park, 1994), compressional (Ring et al., 2003) or both (Bozkurt, 2007). Aside from the Pan-African eclogites, the four units of the Menderes Massif are devoid of evidence for high-pressure metamorphism. Overlying the Selimiye unit, however, is a metasedimentary sequence with a Paleozoic to Eocene stratigraphy (Konak et al., 1987; Özer, 1998; Özer et al., 2001), which is classically incorporated in the 'Menderes cover sequence' (Oberhänsli et al., 1998; Bozkurt and Oberhänsli, 2001; Rimmelé et al., 2003a, b; Whitney et al., 2008). This sequence has magnesiocarpholite-

bearing assemblages and contains metabauxite with a metamorphic field gradient from corund in the north to diasporite in the south (Schuiling, 1962; Konak et al., 1987; Yalçin et al., 1993; Hatipoğlu et al., 2010). Given its stratigraphic age, its metamorphism must be Alpine, and reached HP-LT conditions (up to 470-500 °C/12-14 kbar, Rimmelé et al., 2003b; Whitney et al., 2008). This unit is separated by a metamorphosed ophiolitic mélange that may be correlated to the Selçuk mélange of the overlying the Dilek nappe in the west (Ring et al., 2007a, b; Régnier et al., 2007), from another magnesiocarpholite-bearing metasedimentary unit (up to 400 °C/10-12 kbar, Rimmelé et al., 2005). The latter is classically included as a metamorphosed part into the Lycian Nappes, but recently separately identified as the Ören unit, correlated with the Afyon zone to the north (Pourteau et al., 2010). Foliations in the Selimiye, 'Dilek', and Ören units are more or less parallel, and dip to the south, below the Lycian Nappes.

The contrasting metamorphic grades in the metasedimentary units overlying the Çine unit led to two hypotheses: (1) The Menderes Massif underlying the carpholite-bearing 'cover sequence' has experienced Alpine HP metamorphism, which was entirely overprinted by a regional HT–LP overprint (e.g. Bozkurt, 2007; Whitney et al., 2008). This hypothesis hence predicts that the Çine unit not only underwent Pan-African, but also Alpine amphibolite-facies metamorphism; (2) Alternatively, the contrast in peak pressure between the Selimiye unit and overlying carpholite-bearing successions led Gessner et al. (2001b) and Régnier et al. (2007) to postulate that the carpholite-bearing rocks should be correlated with the Dilek nappe of western Turkey.

In favour of the first hypothesis is the parallelism between the syn-HT-LP stretching lineations and the Miocene stretching lineations associated with Neogene detachment faults (see below). In addition, an Eocene high-temperature pulse was also concluded from the intrusion of a large number of granitoids in and volcanism on the nappes overlying the Menderes Massif in the north between ~50 and 35 Ma (Aldanmaz et al., 2000; Delaloyle and Erguzer, 2000; Dilek and Altunkaynak, 2009).

This hypothesis, however, is troubled by absence of conclusive evidence for Alpine HT metamorphism in the Çine unit, and the presence of the weakly deformed pan-African and Triassic granites intruding the Çine and Bozdağ units' foliations (Gessner et al., 2001c, 2004).

In favour of the second hypothesis is the similar metamorphic grade of the Dilek nappe (500 °C/15 kbar; Ring et al., 2007b) and the carpholite-bearing successions south of the Menderes Massif (470-500 °C/12-14 kbar; Rimmelé et al., 2003a, b; Whitney et al., 2008), the presence of metabauxites in both (Schuiling, 1962; Konak et al., 1987; Yalçin et al., 1993; Ring et al., 2007b; Hatipoğlu et al., 2010), the presence of metamorphosed ophiolitic mélange overlying both, and the absence of evidence for HP metamorphism in the remainder of the Menderes Massif. In addition, it is in line with the intrusive relationship between weakly deformed Pan-African and Triassic granites and the Çine and Bozdağ unit's foliations (Gessner et al., 2001c, 2004). However, it includes the peculiar coincidence of parallel Pan-African and Alpine stretching lineations and foliations, and is difficult to reconcile with absence of evidence for intense deformation of the Cine and Bozdağ unit's foliations, despite Alpine thrusting and greenschist-facies metamorphism.

Both hypothesis, however, have to face the fact that rudist-bearing, low-grade rocks are at the lowermost structural level of the Menderes Massif (Gessner et al., 2001b), which inevitably indicates that the highest three units of the Menderes Massif were thrusted upon the Bayındır nappe in Alpine times, regardless of the grade of their Alpine metamorphism and deformation. The contacts between the Bozağ, Çine and Selimiye units may or may not be thrusts, and may or may not be Alpine.

In the map of Fig. 2, I have indicated the presumed Dilek nappe south of the Menderes Massif, based on the presence or absence of carpholite findings (mainly based on Rimmelé et al., 2003a, b), as well as the four units of the Menderes Massif identified by Gessner et al. (2001b). It is up to the reader to decide which hypothesis is most likely. For the remainder of this paper, which focuses on the Neogene



Fig. 3. Topography of western Turkey, with some reference features for comparison with the geological map of Fig. 2. AD = Alaşehir detachment; BD = Bey Dağları; BMD = Büyük Menderes Detachment; CMM = Central Menderes Massif; EG = Eğrigöz granite; NMM = Northern Menderes Massif; KMB = Küçük Menderes Basin; LN = Lycian Nappes; SF = Simav high-angle normal fault; SMM = Southern Menderes Massif.

history of western Turkey, the controversies outlined above are not relevant, and at this stage, I have no preferred interpretation.

3.2. Neogene extensional detachments and exhumation

Neogene extension divided the Menderes massif into three sub-Massifs, the Northern (or Gördes), Central, and Southern (or Çine) Menderes Massif (N-, C- and SMM), respectively (Figs. 2 and 3). The NMM and SMM record late Oligocene to latest Early Miocene zircon and apatite fission track ages (~27–16 Ma, with zircon fission track ages generally 2–3 Ma older than the apatite fission track ages), and the CMM exhumed mainly between ~16 and 5 Ma (Gessner et al., 2001a; Ring et al., 2003; Thomson and Ring, 2006).

The exhumation history of the CMM is well-constrained along multiple lines of evidence. Two ductile-to-brittle extensional detachments were identified along the northern (Alaşehir detachment) and southern (Büyük Menderes detachment) margins of the CMM (Figs. 2 and 3). In the hanging walls of both detachments, supra-detachment basin sediments with early middle Miocene ages (16.6-14.6 Ma along the Alaşehir detachment and 16.0-14.9 Ma along the Büyük Menderes detachment (Sen and Seyitoğlu, 2009)) are dipping into the detachment surface (Işık et al., 2003). In the footwall of the Alaşehir detachment, granite intrusions with crystallisation ages of 16-13 Ma (Catlos and Cemen, 2005; Glodny and Hetzel, 2007; Catlos et al., 2010) are deformed by the detachment, and were interpreted to be synkinematic (Hetzel et al., 1995b; Gessner et al., 2001b). Andalusite in the contact metamorphic aureoles around those granites was used to interpret an intrusion depth not exceeding 12 km (Ring et al., 2003). This is in line with the 40 Ar/ 39 Ar white mica age of 36 ± 2 Ma from rocks below the Büyük Menderes detachment, showing that the metamorphic rocks of the southern CMM were already cooled below the closure temperature for argon diffusion in white mica when middle Miocene detachment faulting started (Lips et al., 2001). The comparable ages between the granite and the supra-detachment basin sediments on either side of the Alaşehir detachment shows extensional exhumation from ~12 km depth since ~16 Ma.

The central axis of the CMM exhibits the Küçük Menderes Graben, containing volcanic deposits with ages of 14.6–13.9 Ma (Bozkurt et al., 2009). Together with early Miocene fission track ages in the central axis of the CMM, which young to Pliocene and younger ages to the north and south (Ring et al., 2003), this shows that the post-16 Ma extension only exhumed the flanks of the CMM.

Finally, the CMM pinches out eastward, and the Alaşehir and Büyük Menderes detachments converge to a point around Denizli (Fig. 2), defining an angle of $\sim 30^{\circ}$. A comparable angle is found between the stretching lineations of the Alaşehir and Büyük Menderes detachments (Hetzel et al., 1995a; Bozkurt and Satır, 2000; Lips et al., 2001; Okay, 2001; Ring et al., 2003; Fig. 2). Paleomagnetic results from lower Miocene volcanics on the NMM. and upper Oligocene to uppermost lower Miocene sediments in the Lycian Nappes and on Bey Dağları demonstrate a rotation difference of ~25-30° since ~16 Ma, and have been used to argue for a synexhumational vertical axis rotation episode between the SMM and NMM during exhumation of the CMM around a pole north of Denizli (van Hinsbergen et al., 2010a, b; Fig. 2). It should be noted that the southern rotating domain runs further east than the pole near Denizli, and is likely delimited in the east along the middle to upper Miocene Aksu thrust and Kırkkavak right-lateral strike slip fault (van Hinsbergen et al., 2010a, b a, b; Fig. 2). Rotation east of the pole near Denizli is likely associated with contraction within the Lycian Nappes (such as for instance documented by post-early Miocene thrusting in the Denizli basin (Sözbilir, 2005).

This lateral variation in total amount of middle Miocene and younger extension in the CMM is a common phenomenon in most other extensional complexes that exhumed crystalline rocks in the Aegean region, including the Southern Rhodope core complex (Dinter and Royden, 1993; Sokoutis et al., 1993; Brun and Sokoutis, 2007; Georgiev et al., 2010), the culmination of Cycladic core complexes (Tirel et al., 2009; Jolivet et al., 2010a, b; Jolivet et al., 2010a), and the South Aegean crystalline complex of Crete and the Peloponnesos (van Hinsbergen et al., 2005c; Jolivet et al., 2010a, b). These all have lenticular shapes (Fig. 1), which have been associated with vertical axis rotation of the west-Aegean region in the course of the Neogene (van Hinsbergen et al., 2005b; 2008; Brun and Sokoutis, 2007; Georgiev et al., 2010).

The early Miocene configuration of the Menderes Massif, however, is markedly different. In contrast to the extensional systems mentioned above, the Menderes massif at the onset of the CMM exhumation and rotation episode, some 16 Ma ago, was deliniated along sharp boundaries on all sides, defining a NE–SW trending rectangle.

A large set of apatite fission track ages from the NMM and SMM show a range in ages from late Oligocene (~27 Ma) to early Miocene (~16 Ma; Ring et al., 2003; Thomson and Ring, 2006), indicating cooling below \sim 120–60 °C in this period of time. Along the northern margin of the NMM, the ductile-to-brittle Simav extensional detachment was identified by Işık and Tekeli (2001), which can be traced from the northern contact of the NMM with the overlying rocks of the Afvon zone and İzmir–Ankara ophiolites to the massifs southwest and southeast of Simav, over a distance of some 50 km parallel to the consistent NE-SW stretching lineations (Verge, 1993; Işık and Tekeli, 2001; Ring et al., 2003; Fig. 2). Thomson and Ring (2006) concluded that the detachment was active from ~25 to 19-18 Ma, and syn-kinematically with detachment activity, the large Eğrigöz granite intruded, which has crystallisation and ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar cooling ages of 23-20 Ma (Işık et al., 2004; Ring and Collins, 2005; Figs. 2 and 3). The Eğrigöz granite is unconformably overlain by volcanics of ~15 Ma (Ercan et al., 1997; Işık et al., 2004). If all exhumation of the footwall can be attributed to the Simav detachment, and erosion played no role, then the modern 50 km width of the exposed Simav detachment corresponds to its displacement. If there was significant erosion after activity (as suggested by Thomson and Ring, 2006 and Hasözbek et al., 2010), then 50 km should be considered a maximum value. In the reconstructions in this paper I will use the maximum value of 50 km of NE-SW extension along the Simav detachment. To the northwest of the Menderes Massif, contemporaneous extensional exhumation was identified in the Kazdağ Massif (Bonev et al., 2009; Cavazza et al., 2009; Fig. 2), which will be accounted for in the restoration in this paper.

Apatite fission track ages of the SMM show that it cooled in the same period as the NMM, starting perhaps slightly earlier, but locating extensional structures that may account for its exhumation has proven to be problematic (Ring et al., 2003). As noted above, northern SMM exposes predominantly augen gneisses of the Çine unit with Pan-African granitic protoliths, separated from the Selimiye unit by a topto-the-south ductile shear zone (the South Menderes shear zone, Bozkurt (2007); Fig. 2), which has been interpreted as an extensional shear zone (Bozkurt and Park, 1994; 1997) or as a thrust (Ring et al., 2003), or both (Bozkurt, 2007). Either way, this shear zone has no brittle component and can therefore not be held accountable for the cooling of the SMM recorded by the fission track ages of (Ring et al., 2003). The base of the Ören unit has also been proposed to be a candidate to have exhumed the SMM (Collins and Robertson, 1998, 2003; Güngör and Erdoğan, 2001; Régnier et al., 2003; Ring et al., 2003). A particular problem with this contact is that shearing in the metamorphosed Lycian nappes is associated with top-to-the-NE to E kinematics (Collins and Robertson, 2003; Rimmelé et al., 2003a). Therefore, Bozkurt and Park (1999) and Rimmelé et al. (2003a) interpreted these kinematics as indication of north-eastward backthrusting after southward emplacement of the Lycian Nappes over the Menderes Massif. On the other hand, Régnier et al. (2003) interpreted these E-ward stretching lineations as rotated top-to-the-south

kinematic indicators. These contradicting interpretations illustrate the notion of Ring et al. (2003) that unequivocal evidence for extensional deformation at the southern margin of the SMM is lacking.

The NMM and SMM are overlain by a series of grabens that trend parallel to the stretching lineations in their underlying basement (Bozkurt, 2003; Purvis and Robertson, 2004; Figs. 2 and 3). Especially the basins overlying the NMM are well-described, and contain volcano-sedimentary records with ages of ~21 Ma and younger (Bingöl, 1977; Ercan et al., 1996; Seyitoğlu, 1997; Purvis and Robertson, 2005; Ersoy et al., 2008) that rework leucogranite pebbles with crystallisation ages of 24–21 Ma (Seyitoğlu and Scott, 1992), in line with sedimentation during exhumation along the Simav detachment to the north and erosion of the footwall. The NW–SE extension direction of these basins has puzzled workers for a long time, and Bozkurt (2003) suggested that they form cross-grabens that formed in the hanging wall of the Alaşehir detachment. Although this scenario may valid since ~16 Ma, i.e. the onset of activity of the Alaşehir detachment, this cannot explain the first ~5 Ma if their evolution.

In summary, three unequivocal extensional detachments have been identified in the Menderes Massif, which have exhumed the entire CMM, and maximum 50 km of the NMM (Ring et al., 2003), with NE–SW stretching directions that rotated into a N–S direction in the south after 16 Ma (van Hinsbergen et al., 2010a). The exhumation of the remaining southern part of the NMM, and of the entire SMM to the surface in the early Miocene remains open for discussion. The timing of this exhumation, however, is well-constrained and occurred between ~27 and 16 Ma, and since ~21 Ma, sedimentary basins formed on the NMM (and SMM), apparently in part as a result of NW–SE extension (i.e. orthogonal to the general stretching direction preserved in the underlying metamorphic rocks).

4. The Lycian Nappes and the Ören unit

The Lycian Nappes comprise a stack of sedimentary thrust slices, below an ophiolitic mélange and ophiolite unit, which were accreted and thrusted during consumption of the northern margin of the Anatolide–Tauride platform in the İzmir–Ankara subduction zone, between ~90 Ma (the age of the metamorphic soles below the ophiolite (Celik et al., 2006)) and the Eocene (de Graciansky, 1972; Dürr et al., 1978; Gutnic et al., 1979; Okay, 1989; Collins and Robertson, 1997, 1998, 1999). These thrust slices have a consistent NE–SW strike, and Cretaceous to Eocene thrusting occurred in a SE direction (Okay, 1989; Collins and Robertson, 1997, 1998, 1999). The non-metamorphic and ultramafic Lycian Nappes overlie the above mentioned Ören unit.

In places, klippen of the Ören unit have been identified on top of the Menderes Massif (Rimmelé et al., 2006). These preserve magnesiocarpholite-bearing, HP–LT metamorphic mineral parageneses, without evidence for a HT overprint, similar to the rest of the Ören and Afyon units(Rimmelé et al., 2005), and in places also contain SE-directed lineations, although such isolated blocks may not have preserved their original position (Rimmelé et al., 2006; Fig. 2).

In the central Aegean region and as far east as Samos (Fig. 2), the Cycladic Blueschist unit is thrust upon the Lowermost Unit, generally considered to correlate to the Tripolitza unit of mainland Greece and Crete (Ring et al., 1999a, 2001b), which underthrusted the Aegean nappe pile in the Oligocene (Ring et al., 2001b; van Hinsbergen et al., 2005c), i.e. well after the collision and underthrusting of the Menderes Massif. The structural evolution and architecture of the transition of the Menderes Massif to the Aegean region remains poorly understood, and may include significant influence of strike-slip tectonics accommodating a westward increasing amount of extension (Ring et al., 1999a; van Hinsbergen et al., 2010a, Erkül, 2010; Kondopoulou et al., in revision). In the early Miocene, the Eocene and older Lycian nappe stack moved SE-wards, overthrusting the Bey Dağları parauthochtonous carbonate platform, as indicated by an Aquitanian to lowermost Langhian (~23–16 Ma) foreland basin succession below the Lycian

thrustfront (Hayward and Robertson, 1982; Hayward, 1984b; van Hinsbergen et al., 2010b). This episode of thrusting ended in the lowermost Langhian, as evidenced by the presence of proximal, Lycian Nappes-sourced fan delta conglomerates in the top of the stratigraphy (Poisson, 1977; Gutnic et al., 1979; Hayward et al., 1996; Karabıyıkoğlu et al., 2005) and Serravallian sediments covering the thrust (Flecker et al., 1995; Poisson et al., 2003).

In a window near Göçek (Fig. 2), Brunn et al. (1970) and Hayward (1984a) found Burdigalian marls and turbidites, comparable in age and facies to the foreland basin deposits of Bey Dağları, and these authors therefore concluded a minimum of ~75 km SE-ward thrust displacement of the Lycian Nappes in early Miocene times.

The Lycian nappes are overlain by post-accretionary extensional sedimentary basins with late Oligocene and younger ages. The oldest sedimentary basins are found along the contact of the Ören unit and the Lycian nappes, and constitute the upper Oligocene-lower Miocene Kale-Tavaş, Denizli and Çardak-Dazkırı basins (Akgün and Sözbilir, 2001; Seyitoğlu et al., 2004; Sözbilir, 2005; Alçiçek et al., 2007). These basins form a NE-SW trending belt, and are limited in the SE by NW-verging normal faults. The contact of the basin fill with the underlying metamorphosed Lycian Nappes has not been described so far, and is covered by younger sediments (Fig. 2). Within the Lycian Nappes, early Miocene sedimentary basins (e.g. near Acipayam, Fig. 2) formed as a result of NW-SE extension, comparable in direction with the Oligocene basin belt, and were interpreted as piggy-back basins that formed during SE-ward emplacement of the Lycian Nappes over the Bey Dağları platform in the early Miocene (Alçiçek and ten Veen, 2008; Alçiçek, 2010).

Paleomagnetic data showed that Bey Dağları underwent a counterclockwise rotation of ~25° (with respect to the Eurasian reference frame of Torsvik et al. (2008)) between 16 and ~5 Ma (Kissel and Poisson, 1986, 1987; Morris and Robertson, 1993; Tatar et al., 2002; van Hinsbergen et al., 2010b). Importantly, there is no evidence that this region experienced any significant rotations between late Cretaceous and middle Miocene times (van Hinsbergen et al., 2010b). From the upper Oligocene of the Kale basin, van Hinsbergen et al. (2010a) obtained a similar rotation amount, which suggests that the Lycian Nappes shared the Bey Dağları rotation history, and that early Miocene SE-ward emplacement did not involve significant (i.e. $> 5^\circ$) vertical axis rotations.

In summary, the Lycian Nappes display evidence for SE-ward displacement over a distance of at least 75 km between ~23 and 16 Ma ago, i.e. contemporaneous with activity of the Simav detachment, and the cooling of the NMM and SMM.

5. Analysis: a restoration

Fig. 4 shows a series of snapshots of the reconstruction in 5 Ma intervals from the Present back to 25 Ma. For these reconstructions *GPlates* software (Boyden et al., in press), freely available at http://www.gplates.org/ was used. *GPlates* subdivides the surface into undeformable *polygons* and deformable *topologies*. For instance extending basins, core complexes, or folding nappes can be represented by topologies during their deformation. Moreover, *GPlates* interpolates plate motions with constant rates between known situations, leading to continuous deforming-plate reconstructions, allowing testing whether configurations can evolve from one to another with reasonable rates and processes. Polygons and topologies are defined strictly on geological criteria, and their definition, shape files and rotation files used to create Fig. 4a are given in the Online Appendix. The reconstructions in Fig. 4 are shown in a Eurasia-fixed reference frame.

5.1. Reconstruction back to ~15 Ma

During the last 5 Ma, western Turkey was affected by brittle faulting, and formation of several basins (see e.g. Seyitoğlu et al.,

1992; Bozkurt, 2000, 2001; Sözbilir, 2001; Alçiçek et al., 2005, 2006; Alçiçek, 2007; Çiftçi and Bozkurt, 2009; ten Veen et al., 2009; Alçiçek, 2010). However, the displacement amounts associated

with these faults are relatively minor, and have little influence on the scale of this reconstruction. The reconstruction at 5 Ma ago thus shows a similar geometry of the main units as today, corrected for



Fig. 4. Restoration of western Turkey since 25 Ma, in 5 Ma time slices. Basic geological map with main units based on Okay et al. (1996). Sea of Marmara is closed based on interpretations of Armijo et al. (1999). Western part of the Biga peninsula is included in the Rhodope block, following Beccaletto and Jenny (2004). Evolution of the Cycladic core complex (Ccc) is tentative, and will be subject of future restorations. A post-20 Ma opening of the eastern part of the Ccc is in line with geochronological data of Kumerics et al. (2005). Rotation of Rhodos is according to van Hinsbergen et al. (2007). Positions and affinity to onshore equivalents of the Anaximander and Anaxigoras mountains is based on Zitter et al. (2003) and ten Veen et al. (2004). Areas indicated with x-symbols at 10 and 15 Ma in the Lycian Nappes area indicated the area that is inferred to be consumed by convergence upon rotation of the SW-Anatolian domain (see van Hinsbergen et al., 2010a, b). The connection of the Hellenic subduction zone to the Cyprus subduction zone is enigmatic and will be subject of future reconstructions. For now, the reader is referred to ten Veen et al. (2004).



Fig. 4 (continued).

the motion along the North Anatolian Fault. For this motion, I adopted a total displacement of 85 km since 11 Ma following Şengör et al. (2005), of which 50 km was accommodated in the last 3 Ma, following Hubert-Ferrari et al. (2009). The rates are intrapolated between these ages. Paleomagnetic data of van Hinsbergen et al. (2010a) in the region north of the CMM show no evidence for post-early Miocene vertical axis rotation with respect to Eurasia, and I therefore do not adopt the conclusion of Kissel et al. (2003) for a Turkey-wide counterclockwise rotation

history of ~20° since the late Miocene. The reconstructed 85 km of motion along the curved North Anatolian Fault Zone would lead to a counterclockwise rotation of ~2°, well within the typical error margins of paleomagnetism.

The reconstruction of Fig. 4d shows the west-Anatolian situation prior to the counterclockwise rotation of the SMM, Lycian Nappes and Bey Dağları. I assumed a constant rotation rate between 15 and 5 Ma, and the 10 Ma reconstruction of Fig. 4c is an intrapolation of the situations at 15 and 5 Ma.

The vertical axis rotation is, as outlined above, accommodated by the exhumation of the CMM, which consequently is closed at 15 Ma. The position of the central axis of the CMM and the Küçük Menderes basin between the CMM and NMM is outlined in Fig. 4c. Post-12 Ma N–S extensional exhumation on the island of Kos (van Hinsbergen and Boekhout, 2009) was not specifically corrected for due to its local nature.

East of the rotation pole near Denizli, the vertical axis rotation episode must have been accommodated by compressional deformation of the Lycian nappes. Two triangles in Fig. 4d indicate the total area that must have been consumed during this rotation. The eastern one was likely consumed by dextral transpression partitioned along the Aksu thrust and the Kırkkavak fault, which have been shown to be active in middle to late Miocene times (Poisson et al., 2003; Çiner et al., 2008). Because the exact boundary of the rotating domain in the north is not known, and few data are available on the structural evolution of the northeastern Lycian nappes in the Neogene, I have not specified the exact locations of accommodation of compression here, and let the Lycian Nappes topology deform as a whole. Post-Oligocene thrusting in the Denizli basin (Sözbilir, 2005), and significant clockwise rotations in the volcanic fields of Afyon along the northeastern margins of the Lycian nappes (Gürsoy et al., 2003), are in line with the prediction of (compressional) middle-late Miocene deformation in this region.

The reconstruction at 15 Ma outlines the configuration of the Lycian Nappes and the Menderes Massif at the end of the early Miocene. Back-rotation of the southern domains aligns the stretching lineations throughout the Menderes massif into a NE–SW orientation.

5.2. Identification of the early Miocene exhumation problem

The reconstructed situation at 15 Ma quickly defines the problems that arise from the – at first sight logical – interpretation that the early Miocene exhumation history of the Menderes Massif was only associated with NE–SW extension as suggested by the invariably NE–SW stretching lineations found throughout the Menderes Massif (e.g. Seyitoğlu et al., 2004).

Firstly, the width of the Menderes Massif around 15 Ma parallel to this dominant NE-SW stretching direction is 150 km. Around 25 Ma, most of the NMM and SMM were buried to at least several kilometers of depth as suggested by apatite and zircon fission track data (Ring et al., 2003; Thomson and Ring, 2006). It is unlikely that all exhumation can be contributed to erosion, mainly because it seems unlikely that the Menderes massif experienced many kilometers of erosion, whereas the surrounding (higher) mountain belts still preserve the highest structural units, formed by the ophiolites of the İzmir-Ankara zone. It is therefore likely that most exhumation is related to tectonic unroofing. The eastern boundary of the Menderes Massif is very abrupt, and borders with a region with no, or only a very minor record of extension. This boundary should therefore accommodate a total of 150 km of early Miocene NE-SW extension exhuming the Menderes Massif to the northwest from a region without extension to the southeast. In other words, this boundary should be a transform fault, offsetting the southwestern Lycian nappes over a distance of 150 km. Such a fault should crosscut the Lycian Nappes and separate the southwestern, offset Lycian Nappes from the eastern part. In modern coordinates, this strike-slip fault should be oriented approximately N-S, running from Denizli to Fethiye (Fig. 2). Such a fault would be hard to miss, and is evidently absent, especially illustrated by the continuous ophiolite belt that runs NE-SW over the Lycian Nappes. Even if only the proven displacement of the Simav detachment of maximum 50 km (Ring et al., 2003) is taken, this would still require a major strike-slip fault.

Secondly, the Lycian Nappes, and its thrustfront over Bey Dağları, run almost parallel to the early Miocene stretching direction in the Menderes Massif. There is no evidence for 150 km of extension in the northeastern part of the Lycian Nappes in early Miocene time, and it is therefore unlikely that the Lycian Nappes were coupled with the Menderes Massif during the early Miocene.

Thirdly, if I ignore the lack of evidence for a transform fault crosscutting the Lycian Nappes to accommodate the Menderes Massif stretching, and the Menderes Massif is restored to its pre-early Miocene history, I inevitably have to restore the island of Rhodos along with the Menderes Massif to the northeast. This would bring it into a position north of the Lycian Nappes. This is precluded by the fact that Rhodos was the location of an Oligocene foreland basin (Mutti et al., 1970), correlated across southern and western Greece linked to the northward subducting Hellenic slab. This would then have to by-pass the Lycian Nappes, an impossibility.

Fourthly, closure of the Menderes Massif in a SW–NE direction would not bring the Lycian Nappes in contact with its equivalents along the NE and NW side of the Menderes Massif.

In other words, it is not possible to un-exhume the Menderes Massif with only NE–SW extension. This problem was recently also realised by ten Veen et al. (2009) who already suggested that N–S extension in the Menderes Massif was contemporaneous with southeastward translation of the Lycian Nappes.

5.3. A working hypothesis for the early Miocene unroofing history of the Menderes Massif

The foreland basin deposits on Bey Dağları of 23-16 Ma clearly show that the SE-ward motion of the Lycian nappes occurred contemporaneously with at least part of the activity of the Simav detachment (active between ~25 and 19 Ma according to Thomson and Ring, 2006). Adopting the constraint of at least 75 km of SE-ward movement of the Lycian Nappes provided by the Göçek window already places the Lycian Nappes on top of the Menderes Massif, covering half of the area exposed at 15 Ma. The similarity in shape of the NW and SE margin of the Menderes Massif at 15 Ma requires little imagination to suggest that the amount of displacement of the Lycian Nappes was approximately twice the distance from Göçek to the modern thrustfront. This would restore the Lycian Nappes back against the Karaburun peninsula and the Bornova Flysch zone in the NW, and link the carpholite bearing 'cover sequence', the overlying ophiolitic mélange and the Ören unit with their equivalents formed by the Dilek Nappe and Selçuk Mélange and the overlying Ören klippen in western Turkey. Moreover, it connects the Ören unit with the Afyon zone in the NE (Figs. 4 and 5).

In other words, during the NE–SW extension of max. 50 km along the Simav detachment, the Lycian Nappes slide southeastward, exhuming the remainder of the Massif in the early Miocene. This, however requires a decollement between the Lycian Nappes and the Menderes Massif, for the latter provides no evidence for SE-ward sliding (Fig. 2).

5.4. Kinematic requirements and predictions

The above scenario integrates the available temporal and kinematic evidence into a restorable tectonic history of the early Miocene unroofing of the Menderes Massif. However, this reconstruction also predicts deformation in regions where little kinematic information, or time-constraints on deformation are present.

The first major requirement for this reconstruction to be valid is that there was a decollement between the Menderes Massif and the Lycian Nappes that accommodated the SE-ward displacement of the latter. There is only one candidate for this decollement, as was already proposed by Collins and Robertson (2003), which is the contact of the Lycian Nappes with the Ören unit. The thickness of the Lycian Nappes was probably not much more than the modern maximum elevations of ~2000 m: the window of Göçek shows that in a segment near the coast the base of the Lycian nappes is still at sea level. Placing them



Fig. 5. Schematic block-diagram summarizing the early Miocene unroofing scenario proposed in this paper.

back to the northwest would thus bury the Menderes Massif would to a depth of approximately 2 km or, depending on the amount of thinning in Ören unit related to the SE ward sliding, and the amount of post-Oligocene erosion of the ophiolite sequence of the Lycian Nappes, more. This appears to be in line with the conclusion of Thomson and Ring (2006) that most of the northern Menderes Massif south of the Eğrigöz granite underwent 2-3 km of exhumation in early Miocene times based on zircon and apatite fission track ages. They ascribed this exhumation to erosion, I here suggest that it mainly corresponds to the SE-ward tectonic transportation of the Lycian Nappes. A limited amount of exhumation in early Miocene time of the bulk of the Menderes Massif, apart from the ~50 km wide region exhumed along the Simav detachment, as well as the younger CMM, may also explain the lack of a ductile Miocene overprint, and the preservation of Eocene and/or Pan-African NE-SW stretching lineations across the massif. In fact, most of the Menderes Massif would already have resided at upper crustal levels at the beginning of the Neogene. The brittle early Miocene history of the Menderes is entirely in line with NW-SE extension: the cross-grabens on the NMM and SMM with early Miocene basin fills recorded such extension directions.

The restoration proposed here predicts that the modern Bey Dağları platform was separated by approximately 150 km from the pre-Miocene thrustfront of the Lycian Nappes. This is in line with absence of significant deformation and ongoing carbonate deposition on the Bey Dağları platform throughout the late Cretaceous to Oligocene (Poisson, 1967, 1977; Farinacci and Köylüoğlu, 1982; Hayward and Robertson, 1982; Sarı and Özer, 2002; Sarı et al., 2004, 2009).

The Lycian Nappes continue further to the NE than the Bey Dağları platform, and because the early Miocene unroofing did probably not involve vertical axis rotation of the Lycian Nappes (van Hinsbergen et al., 2010a), an equal amount of early Miocene NW–SE shortening should have been accommodated in the Isparta Angle. Evidence for early Miocene shortening has not been reported, but cannot be excluded either: the sedimentary basins in the heart of the Isparta Angle near Yalvaç (Fig. 2) are middle Miocene and younger (Yağmurlu, 1991) and pre-middle Miocene compression is possible. Moreover, Fig. 2 highlights a curved belt of Jurassic limestones in the eastern limb of the Isparta angle, which suggests a larger amount of convergence in the north than in the south. The age of this deformation and curving is unknown, and it is tentatively ascribed to early Miocene in Fig. 4f.

Finally, the max. 50 km of extension accommodated by the Simav detachment should be represented in the northeastern Lycian Nappes, with an increasing amount of NE–SW stretching from the SE to NW, where they were overlying the Menderes Massif the longest (Fig. 5). Although the lack of detailed information does not allow more than speculation on this matter, the map pattern of the Isparta Angle may be in line with this suggestion: a triangular 'gap' exposing Ören Unit or

Afyon Zone rocks is defined south of the line from the Isparta Angle to the Simav detachment. The opening of this angle is tentatively included in the reconstruction of Fig. 4.

5.5. Implications for exhumation mechanisms of metamorphic rocks

The reconstruction above argues that the bulk of exhumation of the Menderes Massif occurred prior to the activity of Neogene extensional detachments, and the formation of metamorphic core complexes of the CMM and along the Simav detachment. In fact, most of the Massif already resided in the upper crust at the inception of extensional detachment faulting, and the southeastward sliding of the Lycian Nappes.

This situation is reminiscent on the unroofing history of HP–LT rocks on the island of Crete (Fig. 1), where originally, an extensional detachment was held accountable for ~100 km of extension and exhumation from ~35 km depth or more (Jolivet et al., 1996; Ring et al., 2001b; van Hinsbergen et al., 2005c), pre-dating 15–13 Ma indicated by fission track ages (Thomson et al., 1998; Marsellos et al., 2010). Recently, however, Rahl et al. (2004) argued that the metamorphic contrast across this detachment may only explain some 6 km of exhumation, and the age of the Cretan supradetachment basin of 10.8–10.4 Ma shows that crustal extension commenced well after the bulk of exhumation occurred (Ring et al., 2001a; van Hinsbergen and Meulenkamp, 2006; Zachariasse et al., in revision). Comparable to western Turkey, the preservation of remnants of the entire nappe stack on Crete precludes a major contribution of erosion (Rahl et al., 2004; Zachariasse et al., in revision).

The available structural evidence in western Turkey, and the unlikelihood of a significant contribution of erosion fails to explain the exhumation of the Menderes Massif to upper crustal levels, and the analogy to Crete suggests that this is not a unique problem. As pointed out earlier in this paper, the amount of pre-Miocene exhumation of the Menderes Massif is a controversial subject, with advocates for depths equivalent to greenschist facies conditions (Gessner et al., 2001b, c; Ring et al., 2003; Régnier et al., 2007) or amphibolite-facies and perhaps even HP-LT conditions (Bozkurt, 2007). Whichever scenario one prefers, exhumation of the Menderes Massif to only a few kilometers of depth at the inception of the Miocene cannot be linked to the known extensional structures today. A solution for this problem remains open for discussion, but it seems that the available concepts cannot entirely explain exhumation of metamorphic rocks in the cases discussed here.

5.6. Geodynamic implications

An important consequence of the restoration in this paper is that the amount of early Miocene extension in the Aegean back-arc is much smaller than previously assumed. Only some 50 km or less of NE–SW extension can be accounted for in the early Miocene, as opposed to the previously assumed 150 km or more. This reconstruction therefore implies a slow rate of back-arc extension in the early Miocene, and a dramatic acceleration in the middle Miocene, associated with the curvature of the Aegean orocline (van Hinsbergen et al., 2005b, 2008). This consequence is in line with the consistently young fission track ages representing the timing of exhumation in the Cyclades of central Greece, which are invariably younger than 15 Ma (Hejl et al., 2002, 2008; Kumerics et al., 2005; Brichau et al., 2006, 2007, 2008, 2010). Testing this prediction will be subject of future restorations.

Finally, this reconstruction still allows for 50 km of NE–SW extension, with a sharp boundary east of the Menderes Massif, buried below the SE-ward slid Lycian Nappes. This boundary may be caused by roll-back of the Aegean slab, and represent transform fault accommodating SW-ward roll-back of a slab-edge (Govers and Wortel, 2005) below the eastern part of the Menderes Massif in early Miocene times.

6. Conclusions

This paper reviews the tectono-metamorphic history of western Turkey, and presents the first restoration of this region for the Neogene, contemporaneous with the exhumation of the major Menderes metamorphic massif to the surface. While making this restoration, it became evident that the general consensus on simple NE–SW unroofing of the Menderes Massif is impossible to reconstruct, and this paper provides therefore an alternative solution.

Reconstructing western Turkey back to approximately 15 Ma is relatively straightforward. Since the early middle Miocene, southwestern Turkey, including the Southern Menderes Massif, the Lycian Nappes and the Bey Dağları platform, underwent a $\sim 25^{\circ}$ counterclockwise rotation with respect to northwestern Turkey about a pole north of Denizli. To the west, this rotation was accommodated by the Central Menderes metamorphic core complex. To the east, the rotation must have been accommodated by compressional deformation in the Lycian Nappes. Previously documented distributed transpression in the Isparta Angle, and post-Oligocene thrusting in the Denizli basin are in line with this inference, but further work is needed to establish the exact accommodation of the predicted convergence.

The Northern and Southern Menderes Massifs were unroofed in the course of the early Miocene, and at ~15 Ma, it formed a rectangular shaped window, with abrupt and straight boundaries. Previous work has shown that only 50 km or less of this unroofing occurred along the top-to-the-northeast Simav detachment between 23 and 15 Ma. This, in combination with preserved (pre-Miocene) consistently NE–SW stretching lineations across the massif, and synexhumational thrusting of the Lycian Nappes over the Bey Dağları platform is usually logically interpreted to reflect simple NE–SW extensional unroofing of the Menderes Massif, associated with ~150 km of extension.

Such unroofing requires a major strike-slip fault along the eastern boundary of the Menderes Massif, that would need to cross-cut the Lycian Nappes. There is no such fault in the latter, and the generally agreed upon unroofing scenario is impossible to restore.

Instead, I here propose that simultaneously with NE–SW extensional exhumation along the Simav Detachment, over a distance of 50 km or less in the early Miocene, the Lycian Nappes slid SE-ward, i.e. orthogonal to the Simav detachment sense of shear. This sliding accounted for the final unroofing of the remainder of the Northern and Southern Menderes Massifs, and was accommodated along a decollement formed by the Ören unit, an upper Cretaceous HP–LT metamorphic metasedimentary sequence underlying the Lycian Nappes. The presence of NE–SW trending, lower Miocene extensional basins in both the Lycian Nappes and on the Menderes Massif support this hypothesis. Two important implications of this reconstruction are that 1) early Miocene NE–SW extension in the eastern Mediterranean back-arc was limited to not more than 50 km and 2) exhumation of the southern, and most of the northern Menderes Massif south of the exposures of the Simav detachment from depths equivalent to greenschist-facies or higher-grade conditions cannot be attributed to the extensional detachment faults that are known today. The restoration in this paper, in combination with the available age constraints on the cooling history of the Menderes Massif suggests that most of it resided at upper crustal levels at the inception of extensional detachment faulting, a situation reminiscent of the exhumation history of the island of Crete. A solution for this problem remains open for discussion.

Finally, the early Miocene extension in the Menderes massif marks the onset of roll-back of the subducted Aegean slab. The sharp eastern boundary of roll-back related extension between the Menderes Massif and the rest of Turkey, now buried below the SE-ward slid Lycian Nappes, likely represents a transform fault that accommodated the SW-ward roll-back of the eastern Aegean slab-edge.

Acknowledgements

I thank Erdin Bozkurt for introducing me in the Menderes Massif, and the discussions over the years. Just before final revisions of this paper, I participated in a GSA Penrose field forum in the Menderes Massif, and I thank the participants and organisers, especially Uwe Ring, Klaus Gessner, Talip Güngör, Olivier Vanderhaeghe, Stefan Schmid, Bernhard Grasemann and Hanan Kisch for the many discussions, which I have used to improve and focus the review of the pre-Miocene history of the Menderes Massif in this paper. I thank Torgeir Andersen, Reinoud Vissers, Nuretdin Kaymakcı, Trond Torsvik and Robin Cocks for discussions and comments on this manuscript. This work was financially supported by Statoil (SPlates model project). I thank Robin Watson for (co-)developing and explaining Gplates. I appreciated thorough and helpful reviews of Uwe Ring and an anonymous reviewer, which significantly improved this paper, and for the editorial advice of Rob van der Voo.

Appendix A. Supplementary Data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.earscirev.2010.05.005.

References

- Akgün, F., Sözbilir, H., 2001. A palynostratigraphic approach to the SW Anatolian molasse basin: Kale–Tavas molasse and Denizli molasse. Geodinamica Acta 14, 71–93.
- Akkök, R., 1983. Structural and metamorphic evolution of the northern part of the Menderes massif: new data from the Derbent area and their implication for the tectonics of the massif. Journal of Geology 91, 342–350.
- Alçiçek, M.C., 2007. Tectonic development of an orogen-top rift recorded by its terrestrial sedimentation pattern: the Neogene Esen Basin of southwestern Anatolia. Sedimentary Geology 200, 117–140.
- Alçiçek, H., 2010. Stratigraphic correlation of the Neogene basins in southwestern Anatolia: regional palaeogeographical, palaeoclimatic and tectonic implications. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 291, 297–318.
- Alçiçek, M.C., ten Veen, J.H., 2008. The late Early Miocene Acipayam piggy-back basin: refining the last stages of Lycian nappe emplacement in SW Turkey. Sedimentary Geology 208, 101–113.
 Alçiçek, M.C., Kazancı, N., Özkul, M., 2005. Multiple rifting pulses and sedimentation
- Alçiçek, M.C., Kazancı, N., Özkul, M., 2005. Multiple rifting pulses and sedimentation pattern in the Çameli Basin, southwestern Anatolia, Turkey. Sedimentary Geology 173, 409–431.
- Alçiçek, M.C., ten Veen, J.H., Özkul, M., 2006. Neotectonic development of the Çameli Basin, southwestern Anatolia, Turkey. In: Robertson, A.H.F., Mountrakis, D. (Eds.), Tectonic Development of the Eastern Mediterranean Region. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, pp. 591–611.
 Alçiçek, H., Varol, B., Özkul, M., 2007. Sedimentary facies, depositional environments
- Alçiçek, H., Varol, B., Özkul, M., 2007. Sedimentary facies, depositional environments and palaeogeographic evolution of the Neogene Denizli Basin, SW Anatolia. Turkey Sedimentary Geology 202, 596–637.

- Aldanmaz, E., Pearce, J.A., Thirlwall, M.F., Mitchell, J.G., 2000. Petrogenetic evolution of late Cenozoic, post-collision volcanism in western Anatolia, Turkey. Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research 102, 67–95.
- Armijo, R., Meyer, B., Hubert, A., Barka, A., 1999. Westward propagation of the North Anatolian fault into the northern Aegean: timing and kinematics. Geology 27 (3), 267–270.
- Barrier, E., Vrielynck, B., 2008. MEBE Atlas of Paleotectonic maps of the Middle East. Commission for the Geological Map of the World.
- Beccaletto, L., Jenny, C., 2004. Geology and correlation of the Ezine zone: a Rhodope fragment in NW Turkey? Turkish Journal of Earth Sciences 13, 145–176.
- Bernoulli, D., DeGraciansky, P.C., Monod, O., 1974. The extension of the Lycian Nappes (SW Turkey) into the SE Aegean islands. Eclogae Geologicae Helveticae 67, 39–90. Bingöl, E., 1977. The geology of Muratdagi on the petrology of the main rock units. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Turkey 20, 13–66.
- Bonev, N., Beccaletto, L., Robyr, M., Monie, P., 2009. Metamorphic and age constraints on the Alakeci shear zone: implications for the extensional exhumation history of the northern Kazdag Massif, NW Turkey. Lithos 113, 331–345.
- Boyden, J.R., Müller, R.D., Gurnis, M., Torsvik, T.H., Clark, J., Turner, M., Ivey-Law, H., Watson, R., and Cannon, J., in press, Next-generation plate-tectonic reconstructions using GPlates, in Keller, R., and Baru, C., eds., Geoinformatics, Cambridge University Press.
- Bozkurt, E., 2000. Timing of extension on the Büyük Menderes Graben, western Turkey, and its tectonic implications. In: Bozkurt, E., Winchester, J.A., Piper, J.D.A. (Eds.), Tectonics and Magmatism in Turkey and the Surrounding Area: Geological Society, London, Special Publication, pp. 385–403.
- Bozkurt, E., 2001. Neotectonics of Turkey a synthesis. Geodinamica Acta 14, 3–30. Bozkurt, E., 2003. Origin of NE-trending basins in western Turkey. Geodinamica Acta 16,
- 61-81. Bozkurt, E., 2004. Granitoid rocks of the southern Menderes Massif (southwestern Turkey): field evidence for Tertiary magmatism in an extensional shear zone. International Journal of Earth Sciences 93, 52-71.
- Bozkurt, E., 2007. Extensional v. contractional origin for the southern Menderes shear zone, SW Turkey: tectonic and metamorphic implications. Geological Magazine 144 (1), 191–210.
- 144 (1), 191–210. Bozkurt, E., Oberhänsli, R., 2001. Menderes Massif (Western Turkey): structural, metamorphic and magmatic evolution – a synthesis. International Journal of Earth Sciences 89, 679–708.
- Bozkurt, E., Park, R.G., 1994. Southern Menderes Massif: an incipient metamorphic core complex in western Anatolia, Turkey. Journal of the Geological Society of London 151, 213–216.
- Bozkurt, E., Park, G., 1997. Evolution of a mid-Tertiary extensional shear zone in the southern Menderes Massif, western Turkey. Bulletin de la Societe Geologique de France 168, 3–14.
- Bozkurt, E., Park, R.G., 1999. The structure of the Palaeozoic schists in the southern Menderes Massif, western Turkey: a new approach to the origin of the Main Menderes Metamorphism and its relation to the Lycian Nappes. Geodinamica Acta 12, 25–42.
- Bozkurt, E., Satır, M., 2000. The southern Menderes Massif (western Turkey): geochronology and exhumation history. Geological Journal 35, 285–296.
 Bozkurt, E., Park, G., Winchester, J.A., 1993. Evidence against the core/cover
- Bozkurt, E., Park, G., Winchester, J.A., 1993. Evidence against the core/cover interpretation of the southern sector of the Menderes Massif, west Turkey. Terra Nova 5, 445–451.
- Bozkurt, E., Winchester, J.A., Yiğitbaş, E., Ottley, C.J., 2008. Proterozoic ophiolites and mafic–ultramafic complexes marginal to the Istanbul Block: an exotic terrane of Avalonian affinity in NW Turkey. Tectonophysics 461, 240–251.
- Bozkurt, E., Winchester, J.A., Ruffet, G., Rojay, B., 2009. Age and chemistry of Miocene volcanic rocks from the Kiraz basin of the Küçük Menderes graben: it's significance for extensional tectonics of southwestern Anatolia, Turkey. Geodinamica Acta 21, 239–257.
- Brichau, S., Ring, U., Ketcham, R.A., Carter, A., Stockli, D., Brunel, M., 2006. Constraining the long-term evolution of the slip rate for a major extensional fault system in the central Aegean, Greece, using thermochronology. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 241, 293–306.
- Brichau, S., Ring, U., Carter, A., Monié, P., Bolhar, R., Stockli, D., Brunel, M., 2007. Extensional faulting on Tinos Island, Aegean Sea, Greece: how many detachments? Tectonics 26, TC4009. doi: 10.1029/2006TC001969.
- Brichau, S., Ring, U., Carter, A., Bolhar, R., Monié, P., Stockli, D., Brunel, M., 2008. Timing, slip rate, displacement and cooling history of the Mykonos detachment footwall, Cyclades, Greece, and implications for the opening of the Aegean Sea basin. Journal of the Geological Society of London 165, 263–277.
- Brichau, S., Thomson, S.N., Ring, U., 2010. Thermochronometric constraints on the tectonic evolution o fthe Serifos detachment, Aegean Sea, Greece. International Journal of Earth Sciences 99, 379–393.
- Brun, J.-P., Faccenna, C., 2008. Exhumation of high-pressure rocks driven by slab rollback. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 272, 1–7.
- Brun, J.-P., Sokoutis, D., 2007. Kinematics of the Southern Rhodope Core Complex (Northern Greece). International Journal of Earth Sciences 96, 1079–1099.
- Brunn, J.H., De Graciansky, P.C., Gutnic, M., Juteau, T., Lefevre, R., Harcoux, J., Monod, O., Poisson, A., 1970. Structures majeurs et correlations stratigraphiques dans les Taurides occidentales. Bulletin de la Société Géologiques de France 12, 515–551.
- Buick, I.S., Holland, T.J.B., 1989. The P–T–t path associated with crustal extension, Naxos, Cyclades, Greece. In: Daly, J.S., Cliff, R.A., Yardley, B.W.D. (Eds.), Evolution of Metamorphic Belts: Geological Society, London, Special Publications, pp. 365–369.
- Burchfiel, B.C., Nakov, R., Dumurdzanov, N., Papanikolaou, D.J., Tzankov, T.Z., Serafimovski, T., King, R.W., Kotsev, V., Todosov, A., Nurce, B., 2008. Evolution and dynamics of the Cenozoic tectonics of the South Balkan extensional system. Geosphere 4. doi: 10.1130/GES00169.1.

- Candan, O., Dora, O.Ö., Oberhänsli, R., Oelsner, F., Dürr, S., 1997. Blueschist relics in the Mesozoic cover series of the Menderes Massif and correlations with Samos Island, Cyclades. Schweizerische Mineralogische and Petrographische Mitteilungen 77, 95–99.
- Candan, O., Dora, Ö.O., Oberhänsli, R., Çetinkaplan, M., Partzsch, J.H., Warkus, F.C., Dürr, S., 2001. Pan-African high-pressure metamorphism in the Precambrian basement of the Menderes Massif, Western Anatolia, Turkey. International Journal of Earth Sciences 89, 793–811.
- Candan, O., Çetinkaplan, M., Oberhänsli, R., Rimmelé, G., Akal, C., 2005. Alpine high-P/ low-T metamorphism of the Afyon Zone and implications for the metamorphic evolution of Western Anatolia, Turkey. Lithos 84, 102–124.
- Catlos, E.J., Çemen, İ., 2005. Monazite ages and the evolution of the Menderes Massif, western Turkey. International Journal of Earth Sciences 94, 204–217.
- Catlos, E.J., Baker, C., Sorensen, S.S., Çemen, I., Hancer, M., 2010. Geochemistry, geochronology, and cathodoluminescence imagery of the Salihli and Turgutlu granites (central Menderes Massif, western Turkey): implications for Aegean tectonics. Tectonophysics. doi: 10.1016/j.tecto.2009.06.001.
- Cavazza, W., Okay, A.I., Zattin, M., 2009. Rapid early-middle Miocene exhumation of the Kazdag Massif (western Anatolia). International Journal of Earth Sciences 98, 1935–1947.
- Celik, Ö.F., Delaloyle, M.F., Feraud, G., 2006. Precise ⁴⁰Ar-³⁹Ar ages from the metamorphic sole rocks of the Tauride Belt Ophiolites, southern Turkey: implications for the rapid cooling history. Geological Magazine 143, 213–227.
- Chemenda, A.I., Mattauer, M., Malavieille, J., Bokun, A., 1995. A mechanism for syncollisional rock exhumation and associated normal faulting: results from physical modelling. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 132, 225–232.
- Çiftçi, N.B., Bozkurt, E., 2009. Pattern of normal faulting in the Gediz Graben, SW Turkey. Tectonophysics 473, 234–260.
- Çiner, A., Karabıyıkoğlu, M., Monod, O., Deynoux, M., Tuzcu, S., 2008. Late Cenozoic sedimentary evolution of the Antalya Basin, Southern Turkey. Turkish Journal of Earth Sciences 17, 1–41.
- Collins, A.S., Robertson, A.H.F., 1997. Lycian melange, southwestern Turkey: an emplaced Late Cretaceous accretionary complex. Geology 25, 255–258.
 Collins, A.S., Robertson, A.H.F., 1998. Processes of Late Cretaceous to Late Miocene
- Collins, A.S., Robertson, A.H.F., 1998. Processes of Late Cretaceous to Late Miocene episodic thrust-sheet translation in the Lycian Taurides, SW Turkey. Journal of the Geological Society of London 155, 759–772.
- Collins, A.S., Robertson, A.H.F., 1999. Evolution of the Lycian Allochthon, western Turkey, as a north-facing Late Palaeozoic to Mesozoic rift and passive continental margin. Geological Journal 34, 107–138.
- Collins, A.S., Robertson, A.H.F., 2003. Kinematic evidence for Late Mesozoic–Miocene emplacement of the Lycian Allochthon over the Western Anatolide Belt, SW Turkey. Geological Journal 38, 295–310.
- Crittenden Jr., M.D., Coney, P.J., Davis, G.H., 1980. Cordilleran metamorphic core complexes. Geological Society of America Memoirs 153 490 pp.
- Davis, G.H., 1983. Shear-zone model for the origin of metamorphic core complexes. Geology 11, 342–347.
- de Graciansky, P.C., 1972. Recherches géologiques dans le Taurus lycien occidental, Thèse Doctorat d'État, Université Paris Sud (Orsay).
- Delaloyle, M., Erguzer, B., 2000. Granitoids from western and northwestern Anatolia; geochemistry and modeling of geodynamic evolution. International Geology Review 42, 241–268.
- Dercourt, J., Zonenshain, L.P., Ricou, L.-E., Kazmin, V.G., Le Pichon, X., Knipper, A.L., C., G., Sbortshikov, I.M., Geyssant, J., Lepvrier, C., Pechersky, D.H., Boulin, J., Sibuet, J.-C., Savostin, L.A., Sorokhtin, O., Westphal, M., Bazhenov, M.L., Lauer, J.P., Biju-Duval, B., 2000. Atlas Peri-Tethys, palaeogeographical maps, 24 maps and explanatory notes: I–XX. CCGM/CGMW, Paris. 269 pp.
- Dewey, J.F., Şengör, A.M.C., 1979. Aegean and surrounding regions: complex multiplate and continuum tectonics in a convergent zone. Geological Society of America Bulletin 90 (1), 84–92.
- Dilek, Y., Altunkaynak, S., 2009. Geochemical and temporal evolition of Cenozoic magmatism in western Turkey: mantle response to collision, slab breakoff, and lithospheric tearing in an orogenic belt. In: van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Edwards, M.A., Govers, R. (Eds.), Geodynamics of Collision and Collapse at the Africa–Arabia– Eurasia Subduction Zone: Geological Society of London Special Publication, pp. 213–234.
- Dinter, D., Royden, L., 1993. Late Cenozoic extension in northeastern Greece: Strymon Valley detachment system and Rhodope metamorphic core complex. Geological Society of America Bulletin 21 (1), 45–48.
- Dürr, S., Seidel, E., Kreuzer, H., Harre, W., 1978. Témoins dún métamorphisme d'âge crétacé supérieur dans l'Égéide: datations radiométriques de minéraux provenant de l'île de Nikouriá (Cyclades, Grèce). Bull. Soc. géol. Fr. 7 (t. XX (2), 209–213.
- Ercan, T., Satır, M., Steinitz, G., Dora, A., Sarıfakioğlu, E., Adis, C., Walter, H.-J., Yıldırım, T., 1996. Biga Yarimadasi ile Gökceada Bozcaada ve Tavsan adalarındaki (KB Anadolu) Tersiyer volkanismasinin özellikleri. Mineral Research and Exploration Institute of Turkey (MTA) Bulletin 117, 55–86.
- Ercan, T., Satır, M., Sevin, D., Turkecan, A., 1997. Interpretation of radiometric age data on Tertiary–Quaternary volcanic rocks in W Anatolia. Mineral Research and Exploration Institute of Turkey (MTA) Bulletin 119, 103–112.
- Erdoğan, B., Güngör, T., 2004. The problem of the core-cover boundary of the Menderes Massif and an emplacement mechanism for regionally extensive gneissic granites, Western Anatolia (Turkey). Turkish Journal of Earth Sciences 13, 15–36.
- Erkül, F., 2010. Tectonic significance of synextensional ductile shear zones within the Early Miocene Alacamdag granites, northwestern Turkey. Geological Magazine 147, 611–637.

Author's personal copy

D.J.J. van Hinsbergen / Earth-Science Reviews 102 (2010) 60-76

- Ersoy, Y., Helvacı, C., Sözbilir, H., Erkül, F., Bozkurt, E., 2008. A geochemical approach to Neogene–Quaternary volcanic activity of western Anatolia: an example of episodic bimodal volcanism within the Selendi Basin, Turkey. Chemical Geology 255, 265–282.
- Faccenna, C., Jolivet, L., Piromallo, C., Morelli, A., 2003. Subduction and the depth of convection of the Mediterranean mantle. Journal of Geophysical Research 108 (B2), 2099.
- Farinacci, A., Köylüoğlu, M., 1982. Evolution of the Jurassic–Cretaceous Taurus shelf (southern Turkey). Boletino della Società Paleontologica Italiana 21, 267–276.
- Flecker, R.M., Robertson, A.H.F., Poisson, A., Müller, C., 1995. Facies and tectonic significance of two contrasting Miocene basins in south coastal Turkey. Terra Nova 7, 221–232.
- Gautier, P., Brun, J.-P., Moriceau, R., Sokoutis, D., Martinod, J., Jolivet, L., 1999. Timing, kinematics and cause of Aegean extension: a scenario based on a comparison with simple analogue experiments. Tectonophysics 315, 31–72.
- Georgiev, N., Pleuger, J., Froitzheim, N., Sarov, S., Jahn-Awe, S., Nagel, T.J., 2010. Separate Eocene-Early Oligocene and Miocene stages of extension and core complex formation in the Western Rhodopes, Mesta Basin, and Pirin Mountains (Bulgaria). Tectonophysics 487, 59–84.
- Gessner, K., Ring, U., Johnson, C., Hetzel, R., Passchier, C.W., Güngör, T., 2001a. An active bivergent rolling-hinge detachment system: Central Menderes metamorphic core complex in western Turkey. Geology 29 (7), 611–614.
- Gessner, K., Ring, U., Passchier, C.W., Güngör, T., 2001b. How to resist subduction: evidence for large-scale out-of-sequence thrusting during Eocene collision in western Turkey. Journal of the Geological Society of London 158, 769–784.
- Gessner, K., Piazolo, S., Güngör, T., Ring, U., Kröner, A., Passchier, C.W., 2001c. Tectonic significance of deformation patterns in granitoid rocks of the Menderes nappes, Anatolide belt, southwest Turkey. International Journal of Earth Sciences 89, 766–780.
- Gessner, K., Collins, A.S., Ring, U., Güngör, T., 2004. Structural and thermal history of poly-orogenic basement: U–Pb geochronology of granitoid rocks in the southern Menderes Massif, Western Turkey. Journal of the Geological Society of London 161, 93–101.
- Glodny, J., Hetzel, R., 2007. Precise U–Pb ages of syn-extensional Miocene intrusions in the central Menderes Massif, western Turkey. Geological Magazine 144 (2), 235–246.
- Govers, R., Wortel, M.J.R., 2005. Lithosphere tearing at STEP faults: response to edges of subduction zones. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 236, 505–523.
- Güngör, T., Erdoğan, B., 2001. Emplacement age and direction of the Lycian nappes in the Söke–Selcuk region, western Turkey. International Journal of Earth Sciences 89, 874–882.
- Gürsoy, H., Piper, J.D.A., Tatar, O., 2003. Neotectonic deformation in the western sector of tectonic escape in Anatolia: palaeomagnetic study of the Afyon region, central Turkey. Tectonophysics 374, 57–79.
- Turkey. Tectonophysics 374, 57–79.
 Gutnic, M., Monod, O., Poisson, A., Dumont, J.F., 1979. Géologie des Taurides occidentales (Türquie). Mémoir de Société Géologique de France 137, 1–112.
- Hafkenscheid, E., Wortel, M.J.R., Spakman, W., 2006. Subduction history of the Tethyan region derived from seismic tomography and tectonic reconstructions. Journal of Geophysical Research 111, B08401. doi: 10.1029/2005JB003791.
- Hasözbek, A., Akay, E., Erdogan, B., Satir, M., Siebel, W., 2010. Early Miocene granite formation by detachment tectonics or not? A case study from the northern Menderes Massif (Western Turkey). Journal of Geodynamics 50, 67–80.Hatipoğlu, M., Helvacı, C., Chamberlain, S.C., Babalık, H., 2010. Mineral characteristics of
- Hatipoğlu, M., Helvacı, C., Chamberlain, S.C., Babalık, H., 2010. Mineral characteristics of unusial "Anatolian" diaspore (zultanite) crystals from the İlbirdağı diasporite deposit, Turkey. African Journal of Earth Sciences 57, 525–541.
- Hayward, A.B., 1984a. Sedimentation and basin formation related to ophiolite nappe emplacement, Miocene, SW Turkey. Sedimentary Geology 71, 105–129.
- Hayward, A.B., 1984b. Miocene clastic sedimentation related to the emplacement of the Lycian Nappes and the Antalya Compex, S.W. Turkey. In: Dixon, J.E., Robertson, A.H.F. (Eds.), Geological Evolution of the Eastern Mediterranean: Geological Society of London Special Publication, pp. 287–300.
- Hayward, A.B., Robertson, A.H.F., 1982. Direction of ophiolite emplacement inferred from Cretaceous and Tertiary sediments of an adjacent autochton, the Bey Daglari, southwest Turkey. Geological Society of America Bulletin 93, 68–75.
- Hayward, A.B., Robertson, A.H.F., Scoffin, T., 1996. Miocene patch reefs from a Mediterranean marginal terrigenous setting in southwest Turkey. In: Franseen, E.K., Esteban, M., Ward, W.C., Rouchy, J.-P. (Eds.), Models for Carbonate Stratigraphy from Miocene Reef Complexes of Mediterranean Regions, Society of Economic Mineralogists and Paleontologists: Concepts in Sedimentology and Paleontology, pp. 317–332.
- Hejl, E., Riedl, H., Weingartner, H., 2002. Post-plutonic unroofing and morphogenesis of the Attic–Cycladic complex (Aegea, Greece). Tectonophysics 349, 37–56.
 Hejl, E., De Grave, J., Riedl, H., Weingartner, H., Van den haute, P., 2008. Fission-track
- Hejl, E., De Grave, J., Riedl, H., Weingartner, H., Van den haute, P., 2008. Fission-track thermochronology of the Middle Aegean Island Bridge – implications for Neogene geomorphology and palaeogeography. Zeitschift Deutsche Geselschaft fur Geowissenschaften 159, 495–512.
- Hetzel, R., Reischmann, T., 1996. Intrusion age of Pan-African augen gneisses in the southern Menderes Massif and the age of cooling after Alpine ductile extensional deformation. Geological Magazine 133, 565–572.
- Hetzel, R., Passchier, C.W., Ring, U., Dora, Ö.O., 1995a. Bivergent extension in orogenic belts: the Menderes massif (southwestern Turkey). Geology 23 (5), 455–458.
- Hetzel, R., Ring, U., Akal, C., Troesch, M., 1995b. Miocene NNE-directed extensional unroofing in the Menderes Massif, southwestern Turkey. Journal of the Geological Society of London 152, 639–654.
- Hubert-Ferrari, A., Armijo, R., King, G., Meyer, B., Barka, A., 2002. Morphology, displacement, and slip rates along the North Anatolian Fault, Turkey. Journal of Geophysical Research 107 (B10), 2235. doi: 10.1029/2001JB000393.

- Hubert-Ferrari, A., King, G., van der Woerd, J., Villa, I., Altunel, E., Armijo, R., 2009. Longterm evolution of the North Anatolian Fault: new constraints from its eastern termination. In: van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Edwards, M.A., Govers, R. (Eds.), Collision and Collapse at the Africa–Arabia–Eurasia Subduction Zone: Geological Society of London Special Publication, pp. 133–154.
- Hüsing, S.K., Zachariasse, W.J., van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Krijgsman, W., Inceöz, M., Harzhauser, M., Mandic, O., Kroh, A., 2009. Oligo-Miocene foreland basin evolution in SE Anatolia: constraints on the closure of the eastern Tethys gateway. In: van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Edwards, M.A., Govers, R. (Eds.), Geodynamics of Collision and Collapse at the Africa–Arabia–Eurasia Subduction Zone: Geological Society, London, Special Publication, pp. 107–132.
- Işık, V., Tekeli, O., 2001. Late orogenic crustal extension in the northern Menderes massif (western Turkey): evidence for metamorphic core complex formation. International Journal of Earth Sciences 89, 757–765.
- Işık, V., Seyitoğlu, G., Çemen, I., 2003. Ductile–brittle transition along the Alasehir detachment fault and its structural relationship with the Simav detachment fault, Menderes massif, western Turkey. Tectonophysics 374, 1–18.
 Işık, V., Tekeli, O., Seyitoğlu, G., 2004. The ⁴⁰Ar³⁹Ar age of extensional ductile
- Işık, V., Tekeli, O., Seyitoğlu, G., 2004. The ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar age of extensional ductile deformation and granitoid intrusion in the northern Menderes core complex: implications for the initiation of extensional tectonics in western Turkey. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 23, 555–566.
- Jolivet, L., 2001. A comparison of geodetic and finite strain pattern in the Aegean, geodynamic implications. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 187, 95–104.
- Jolivet, L., Brun, J.-P., 2010. Cenozoic geodynamic evolution of the Aegean. International Journal of Earth Sciences 99, 109–138.
- Jolivet, L., Goffé, B., Monié, P., Truffert-Luxey, C., Patriat, M., Bonneau, M., 1996. Miocene detachment on Crete and exhumation P-T-t paths of high-pressure metamorphic rocks. Tectonics 15 (6), 1129–1153.
- Jolivet, L., Facenna, C., Goffé, B., Burov, E., Agard, P., 2003. Subduction tectonics and exhumation of high-pressure metamorphic rocks in the Mediterranean orogen. American Journal of Science 303, 353–409.
- Jolivet, L., Rimmelé, G., Oberhänsli, R., Goffé, B., Candan, O., 2004. Correlation of synorogenic tectonic and metamorphic events in the Cyclades, the Lycian Nappes and the Menderes Massif. Geodynamic implications. Bulletin de la Société Géologique de France 175, 217–238.
- Jolivet, L., Faccenna, C., Piromallo, C., 2009. From mantle to crust: stretching the Mediterranean. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 285, 198–209.
- Jolivet, L., Trotet, F., Monié, P., Vidal, O., Goffé, B., Labrousse, L., Agard, P., Ghorbal, B., 2010a. Along-strike variations of P–T conditions in accretionary wedges and synorogenic extension, the HP–LT Phyllite–Quartzite Nappe in Crete and the Peloponnese. Tectonophysics 480, 133–148.
- Jolivet, L., Lecomte, E., Huet, B., Denèle, Y., Lacombe, O., Labrousse, L., Le Pourhiet, L., Mehl, C., 2010b. The North Cycladic detachment system. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 289, 87–104.
- Karabiyikoğlu, M., Tuzcu, S., Çiner, A., Deynoux, M., Örçen, S., Hakyemez, A., 2005. Facies and environmental setting of the Miocene coral reefs in the late-orogenic fill of the Antalya Basin, western Taurides, Turkey: implications for tectonic control and sea-level changes. Sedimentary Geology 173, 345–371.
- Kaymakci, N., Özçelik, Y., White, S.H., van Dijk, P.M., 2009. Tectono-stratigraphy of the Çankiri Basin: late Cretaceous to early Miocene evolution of the Neotethyan suture zone in Turkey. In: van Hinsbergen, D.J., Edwards, M.A., Govers, R. (Eds.), Collision and Collapse at the Africa–Arabia–Eurasia Subduction Zone: Geological Society of London Special Publication, 311, pp. 67–106.
- Keskin, M., 2003. Magma generation by slab steepening and breakoff beneath a subduction–accretion complex: an alternative model for collision-related volcanism in Eastern Anatolia, Turkey. Geophysical Research Letters 30 (24), 8046. doi: 10.1029/2003GL018019.
- Kissel, C., Poisson, A., 1986. Étude paléomagnetique des formations néogènes du bassin d'Antalya (Taurides occidentales-Turquie). Comptes Rendus Acadademie Science Paris 302 (Série II(10), 711–716.
- Kissel, C., Poisson, A., 1987. Étude paléomagnetique préliminaire des formations cénozoïques des Bey Daglari (Taurides occidentales, Turquie). Comptes Rendus Acadademie Science Paris 304 (Série II(8), 343–348.
- Kissel, C., Laj, C., Poisson, A., Görür, N., 2003. Paleomagnetic reconstruction of the Cenozoic evolution of the Eastern Mediterranean. Tectonophysics 362, 199–217.
- Konak, N., Akdeniz, N., Öztürk, E.M., 1987. Geology of the south of Menderes Massif. Correlation of Variscan and Pre-Variscan Events of the Alpine Mediterranean Mountain Belt, Field Meeting. IGCP Project No. 5. Min. Res. Expl. Inst. Turkey Pub. 5, 42–53.
- Kondopoulou, D.P., Sen, S., Aidona, E., van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., and Koufos, G.D., in revision, Rotation history of Chios Island, Greece, since the middle Miocene: Journal of Geodynamics.
- Kröner, A., Şengör, A.M.C., 1990. Archean and Proterozoic ancestry in late Precambrian to early Paleozoic crustal elements of southern Turkey as revealed by single-zircon dating. Geology 18, 1186–1190.
- Kumerics, C., Ring, U., Bricheau, S., Glodny, J., Monié, P., 2005. The extensional Messaria shear zone and associated brittle detachment faults, Aegean Sea, Greece. Journal of the Geological Society of London 162 (4), 701–721.
- Le Pichon, X., Angelier, J., Sibuet, J.-C., 1982. Plate boundaries and extensional tectonics. Tectonophysics 81, 239–256.
- Lips, A.L.W., Cassard, D., Sözbilir, H., Yılmaz, H., 2001. Multistage exhumation of the Menderes Massif, western Anatolia (Turkey). International Journal of Earth Sciences 89, 781–792.
- Lister, G., Banga, G., Feenstra, A., 1984. Metamorphic core complexes of Cordilleran type in the Cyclades. Aegean Sea, Greece. Geology 12, 221–225.

74

- Loos, S., Reischmann, T., 1999. The evolution of the southern Menderes Massif in SW Turkey as revealed by zircon dating. Journal of the Geological Society of London 156, 1021–1030.
- Marsellos, A.E., Kidd, W.S.F., Garver, J.I., 2010. Extension and exhumation of the HP-LT rocks in the Hellenic forearc ridge. American Journal of Science 310, 1–36.
- Mascle, J., Huguen, C., Benkhelil, J., Chomot-Rooke, N., Chaumillon, E., Foucher, J.P., Griboulard, R., Kopf, A., Lamarche, G., Volkonskaia, A., Woodside, J., Zitter, T., 1999. Images may show start of European–African plate collision. Eos 80 (37), 421–428.
- Meulenkamp, J.E., Wortel, M.J.R., Van Wamel, W.A., Spakman, W., Hoogerduyn Strating, E., 1988. On the Hellenic subduction zone and the geodynamical evolution of Crete since the late Middle Miocene. Tectonophysics 146, 203–215.
- Morris, A., Robertson, A.H.F., 1993. Miocene remagnetisation of carbonate platform and Antalya Complex units within the Isparta Angle, SW Turkey. Tectonophysics 220, 243–266.
- MTA, 2002. Geological map of Turkey, sheets İzmir, Ankara, Denizli and Konya 1;500,000. In: Senel, M. (Ed.), MTA, Ankara.
- Mutti, E., Orombelli, G., Pozzi, R., 1970. Geological studies on the Dodecanese islands (Aegean Sea). IX. Geological map of the island of Rhodes (Greece). Explanatory notes. Annulaire Geologique de Pays Hellenique 22, 77–226.
- Oberhänsli, R., Candan, O., Dora, Ö.O., Dürr, S.H., 1997. Eclogites within the Menderes Massif/Western Turkey. Lithos 41, 135–150.
- Oberhänsli, R., Monié, P., Candan, O., Warkus, F.C., Partzsch, J.H., Dora, O.Ö., 1998. The age of blueschist metamorphism in the Mesozoic cover series of the Menderes Massif. Schweizerische Mineralogische and Petrographische Mitteilungen 78, 309–316.
- Oberhänsli, R., Candan, O., Wilke, F.D.H., in press. Geochronological evidence of Pan-African eclogites from the Central Menderes Massif, Turkey. Turkish Journal of Earth Sciences. doi:10.3906/yer-1001-20.
- Okay, A.I., 1989. Geology of the Menderes Massif and the Lycian Nappes south of Denizli, western Taurides. Mineral Resources Exploration Bulletin 109, 37–51.
- Okay, A.I., 2001. Stratigraphic and metamorphic inversions in the central Menderes Massif: a new structural model. International Journal of Earth Sciences 89, 709–727.
- Okay, A.I., Altiner, D., 2007. A condensed Mesozoic succession North of İzmir: a fragment of the Anatolide–Tauride Platform in the Bornova Flysch Zone. Turkish Journal of Earth Sciences 16, 257–279.
- Okay, A.I., Satır, M., Maluski, H., Siyako, M., Monié, P., Metzger, R., Akyüz, S., 1996. Paleoand Neo-Tethyan events in northwestern Turkey: geologic and geochronologic constraints. In: Yin, A., Harrison, T.M. (Eds.), The Tectonic Evolution of Asia. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 420–441.
- Okay, A.I., Harris, N.B.W., Kelley, S.P., 1998. Exhumation of blueschists along a Tethyan suture in northwest Turkey. Tectonophysics 285, 275–299.
- Okay, A.I., Bozkurt, E., Satır, M., Yiğitbaş, E., Crowley, Q.G., Shang, C.K., 2008a. Defining the southern margin of Avalonia in the Pontides: geochronological data from the Late Proterozoic and Ordovician granitoids from NWTurkey. Tectonophysics 461, 252–264.
- Okay, A.I., Satır, M., Shang, C.K., 2008b. Ordovician metagranitoid from the Anatolide– Tauride Block, northwest Turkey: geodynamic implications. Terra Nova 20, 280–288.
- Önen, A.P., Hall, R., 2000. Sub-ophiolite metamorphic rocks from NW Anatolia, Turkey. Journal of Metamorphic Geology 18, 483–495.
- Özer, S., 1998. Rudist bearing Upper Cretaceous metamorphic sequences of the Menderes Massif (Western Turkey). Geobios 22, 235–249.
- Özer, S., Sözbilir, H., Özkar, I., Toker, V., Sarı, B., 2001. Stratigraphy of Upper Cretaceous– Palaeogene sequences in the southern and eastern Menderes Massif (western Turkey). International Journal of Earth Sciences 89, 852–866.
- Peters, J.M., Huson, W.J., 1985. The Pliny and Strabo trenches (Eastern Mediterranean): integration of seismic reflection data and SeaBeam bathymetry maps. Marine Geology 64, 1–17.
- Poisson, A., 1967. Données nouvelles sur le Crétacé superieur et le Tertiaire du Taurus au NW dÔAntalya (Turquie). Comptes Rendus Acadademie Science Paris 264, 2443–2446.
- Poisson, A., 1977. Récherches géologiques dans les Taurides occidentales (Turquie), Thesis, Université de Paris-Sud.
- Poisson, A., Wernli, R., Sagular, E.K., Temiz, H., 2003. New data concerning the age of the Aksu Thrust in the south of the Aksu valley, Isparta Angle (SW Turkey): consequences for the Antalya Basin and the Eastern Mediterranean. Geological Journal 38, 311–327.
- Pourteau, A., Candan, O., Oberhänsli, R., 2010. High-pressure metasediments in central Turkey: constraints on the Neotethyan closure history: Tectonics 29. doi:10.1029/ 2009TC002650.
- Purvis, M., Robertson, A.H.F., 2004. A pulsed extension model for the Neogene–Recent E–W-trending Alasehir Graben and the NE–SW-trending Selendi and Gordes Basins, western Turkey. Tectonophysics 391, 171–201.
- Purvis, M., Robertson, A., 2005. Miocene sedimentary evolution of the NE–SW-trending Selendi and Gördes Basins, W Turkey: implications for extensional processes. Sedimentary Geology 174, 31–62.
- Rahl, J.M., Fassoulas, C., Brandon, M.T., 2004. Exhumation of high-pressure metamorphic rocks within an active convergent margin, Crete, Greece. 32nd International Geological Congress – Field Trip Guide Book B32, Florence-Italy.
- Régnier, J.L., Ring, U., Passchier, C.W., Gessner, K., Güngör, T., 2003. Contrasting metamorphic evolution of metasedimentary rocks from the Cine and Selimiye nappes in the Anatolide belt, western Turkey. Journal of Metamorphic Geology 21, 699–721.
- Régnier, J.-L., Mezger, J.E., Passchier, C.W., 2007. Metamorphism of Precambrian-Palaeozoic schists of the Menderes core series and contact relationships with

Proterozoic orthogneisses of the western Çine Massif, Anatolide belt, western Turkey. Geological Magazine 144, 67–104.

- Rimmelé, G., Jolivet, L., Oberhänsli, R., Goffé, B., 2003a. Deformation history of the highpressure Lycian Nappes and implications for the tectonic evolution of SW Turkey. Tectonics 22 (2), 1007.
- Rimmelé, G., Oberhänsli, R., Goffé, B., Jolivet, L., Candan, O., Çetinkaplan, M., 2003b. First evidence of high-pressure metamorphism in the "Cover Series" of the southern Menderes massif. Tectonic and metamorphic implications for the evolution of SW Turkey. Lithos 71, 19–46.
- Rimmelé, G., Parra, T., Goffé, B., Oberhänsli, R., Jolivet, L., Candan, O., 2005. Exhumation paths of high-pressure-low-temperature metamorphic rocks from the Lycian Nappes and the Menderes Massif (SW Turkey): a multi-equilibrium approach. Journal of Petrology 46 (3), 641–669.
- Rimmelé, G., Oberhänsli, R., Candan, O., Goffé, B., Jolivet, L., 2006. The wide distribution of HP-LT rocks in the Lycian Belt (Western Turkey): implications for accretionary wedge geometry. In: Robertson, A.H.F., Mountrakis, D. (Eds.), Tectonic Development of the Eastern Mediterranean Region, Geological Society, London, Special Publications, pp. 447–466.
- Ring, U., Collins, A.S., 2005. U–Pb SIMS dating of synkinematic granites: timing of corecomplex formation in the northern Anatolide belt of western Turkey. Journal of the Geological Society of London 162, 289–298.
- Ring, U., Glodny, J., 2010. No need for lithospheric extension for exhuming (U)HP rocks by normal faulting. Journal of the Geological Society of London 167, 225–228.
- Ring, U., Kumerics, C., 2008. Vertical ductile thinning and its contribution to the exhumation of high-pressure rocks: the Cycladic blueschist unit in the Aegean. Journal of the Geological Society of London 165, 1019–1030.
 Ring, U., Layer, P.W., 2003. High-pressure metamorphism in the Aegean, eastern
- Ring, U., Layer, P.W., 2003. High-pressure metamorphism in the Aegean, eastern Mediterranean: underplating and exhumation from the Late Cretaceous until the Miocene to Recent above the retreating Hellenic subduction zone. Tectonics 22 (3), 1022.
- Ring, U., Gessner, K., Güngör, T., Passchier, C.W., 1999a. The Menderes Massif of western Turkey and the Cycladic Massif in the Aegean – do they really correlate? Journal of the Geological Society of London 156, 3–6.
- Ring, U., Laws, S., Bernet, M., 1999b. Structural analysis of a complex nappe sequence and late-orogenic basins from the Aegean Island of Samos. Journal of Structural Geology 21, 1575–1601.
- Ring, U., Brachert, T., Fassoulas, C., 2001a. Middle Miocene graben development in Crete and its possible relation to large-scale detachment faults in the southern Aegean. Terra Nova 13, 297–304.
- Ring, U., Layer, P.W., Reischmann, T., 2001b. Miocene high-pressure metamorphism in the Cyclades and Crete, Aegean Sea, Greece: evidence for large-magnitude displacement on the Cretan detachment. Geology 29 (5), 395–398.
- Ring, U., Johnson, C., Hetzel, R., Gessner, K., 2003. Tectonic denudation of a Late Cretaceous–Tertiary collisional belt: regionally symmetric cooling patterns and their relation to extensional faults in the Anatolide belt of western Turkey. Geological Magazine 140 (4), 421–441.
- Ring, U., Glodny, J., Will, T., Thomson, S.N., 2007a. An Oligocene extrusion wedge of blueschist-facies nappes on Evia, Aegean Sea, Greece: implications for the early exhumation of high-pressure rocks. Journal of the Geological Society of London 164, 637–652.
- Ring, U., Will, T., Glodny, J., Kumerics, C., Gessner, K., Thomson, S.N., Güngör, T., Monié, P., Okrusch, M., Drüppel, K., 2007b. Early exhumation of high-pressure rocks in extrusion wedges: the Cycladic blueschist unit in the eastern Aegean, Greece and Turkey. Tectonics 26 (TC2001). doi: 10.1029/2005TC001872.
- Ring, U., Glodny, J., Will, T., Thomson, S.N., 2010. The Hellenic subduction system: highpressure metamorphism, exhumation, normal faulting, and large-scale extension. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences 38, 45–76.
- Sarı, B., Özer, S., 2002. Upper Cretaceous stratigraphy of the Bey Daglari carbonate platform, Korkuteli area (Western Taurides, Turkey). Turkish Journal of Earth Sciences 11, 39–59.
- Sarı, B., Steuber, T., Özer, S., 2004. First record of Upper Turonian rudists (Mollusca, Hippuritoidea) in the Bey Daglarý carbonate platform, Western Taurides (Turkey): taxonomy and strontium isotope stratigraphy of Vaccinites praegiganteus (Toucas, 1904). Cretaceous Research 25, 235–248.
- Sari, B., Sari, K., Özer, S., 2009. Benthonic foraminiferal biostratigraphy of the upper Cretaceous (middle Cenomanian–Coniacian) sequences of the Bey Daglari carbonate platform, western Taurides, Turkey. Turkish Journal of Earth Sciences 18, 393–425.
- Satır, M., Friedrichsen, H., 1986. The origin and evolution of the Menderes Massif, W-Turkey: a rubidium/strontium and oxygen isotope study. Geologische Rundschau 75, 703–714.
- Schuiling, R.D., 1962. On petrology, age and evolution of the Menderes Massif, W-Turkey: a rubidium/strontium and oxygen isotope study. Bulletin of the Institute for Mineral Research and Exploration, Turkey 58, 703–714.
- Sen, Ş., Seyitoğlu, G., 2009. Magnetostratigraphy of early-middle Miocene deposits from E-W trending Alasehir and Büyük Menderes grabens in western Turkey, and its tectonic implications. In: van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Edwards, M.A., Govers, R. (Eds.), Collision and Collapse at the Africa-Arabia-Eurasia Subduction Zone: Geological Society of London Special Publication, pp. 321–342.
- Şengör, A.M.C., Yılmaz, Y., 1981. Tethyan evolution of Turkey: a plate tectonic approach. Tectonophysics 75, 181–241.
- Şengör, A.M.C., Satır, M., Akkök, R., 1984. Timing of tectonic events in the Menderes Massif, Western Turkey: implications for tectonic evolution and evidence for Pan-African basement in Turkey. Tectonics 3, 697–707.
- Şengör, A.M.C., Görür, N., Saroğlu, F., 1985. Strike-slip faulting and related basin formation in zones of tectonic escape: Turkey as a case study. In: Biddle, K.T.,

Author's personal copy

D.J.J. van Hinsbergen / Earth-Science Reviews 102 (2010) 60-76

Christie-Blick, N. (Eds.), Basin Formation and Sedimentation. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Special Publications, pp. 227–264.

- Şengör, A.M.C., Tüysüz, O., Imren, C., Sakinç, M., Eyidoğan, H., Görür, N., Le Pichon, X., Rangin, C., 2005. The North Anatolian Fault: a new look. Annual Reviews in Earth and Planetary Sciences 33, 37–112.
- Seyitoğlu, G., 1997. Late Cenozoic tectono-sedimentary development of the Selendi and Usak-Güre basins: a contribution to the dicussion on the development of east–west and north trending basins in western Turkey. Geological Magazine 134, 163–175.
- Seyitoğlu, G., Scott, B.C., 1992. Late Cenozoic volcanic evolution of the northeastern Aegean region. Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research 54, 157–176.
- Seyitoğlu, G., Scott, B.C., Rundle, C.C., 1992. Timing of Cenozoic extensional tectonics in west Turkey. Journal of the Geological Society of London 149, 533–538.
 Seyitoğlu, G., Işık, V., Çemen, I., 2004. Complete Tertiary exhumation history of the
- Seyitoğlu, G., Işık, V., Çemen, I., 2004. Complete Tertiary exhumation history of the Menderes massif, western Turkey: an alternative working hypothesis. Terra Nova 16 (6), 358–364.
- Sokoutis, D., Brun, J.-P., Van den Driessche, J., Pavlides, S., 1993. A major Oligo-Miocene detachment in southern Rhodope controlling north Aegean extension. Journal of the Geological Society of London 150, 243–246.
- Sözbilir, H., 2001. Extensional tectonics and the geometry of related macroscopic structures: field evidence from the Gediz Detachment, Western Turkey. Turkish Journal of Earth Sciences 10, 51–67.
- Sözbilir, H., 2005. Oligo-Miocene extension in the Lycian orogen: evidence from the Lycian molasse basin, SW Turkey. Geodinamica Acta 18, 255–282.
- Spakman, W., Wortel, M.J.R., Vlaar, N.J., 1988. The Hellenic subduction zone: a tomographic image and its geodynamic implications. Geophysical Research Letters 15 (1), 60–63.
- Stampfli, G.M., Borel, G.D., 2004. The TRANSMED transects in space and time: Constraints on the paleotectonic evolution of the Mediterranean domain. In: Cavazza, W., Roure, F., Spakman, W., Stampfli, G.M., Ziegler, P. (Eds.), The TRANSMED Atlas: the Mediterranean Region from Crust to Mantle. Springer Verlag, Berlin, pp. 53–76.
- Tatar, O., Gürsoy, H., Piper, J.D.A., 2002. Differential neotectonic rotations in Anatolia and the Tauride Arc: palaeomagnetic investigation of the Erenlerdag Volcanic Complex and Isparta volcanic district, south-central Turkey. Journal of the Geological Society of London 159, 281–294.
- ten Veen, J.H., Woodside, J.M., Zitter, T.A.C., Dumont, J.F., Mascle, J., Volonskaia, A., 2004. Neotectonic evolution of the Anaximander Mountains at the junction of the Hellenic and Cyprus arcs. Tectonophysics 391, 35–65.
- ten Veen, J.H., Boulton, S.J., Alçiçek, M.C., 2009. From palaeotectonics to neotectonics in the Neotethys realm: the importance of kinematic decoupling and inherited structural grain inSW Anatolia (Turkey). Tectonophysics 473, 261–281.
- Thomson, S.N., Ring, U., 2006. Thermochronologic evaluation of postcollision extension in the Anatolide orogen, western Turkey. Tectonics 25, TC3005. doi: 10.1029/ 2005TC001833, 2006.
- Thomson, S.N., Stöckhert, B., Brix, M.R., 1998. Thermochronology of the high-pressure metamorphic rocks of Crete, Greece: implications for the speed of tectonic processes. Geology 26 (3), 259–262.
- Thomson, S.N., Stöckhert, B., Brix, M.R., 1999. Miocene high-pressure metamorphic rocks of Crete, Greece: rapid exhumation by buoyant escape. In: Ring, U., Brandon, M.T., Lister, G.S., Willet, S.D. (Eds.), Exhumation Processes: Normal Faulting. Ductile Fow and Erosion, Geological Society, London, Special Publications, pp. 87–107. Tirel, C., Gautier, P., van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Wortel, M.J.R., 2009. Sequential development
- Tirel, C., Gautier, P., van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Wortel, M.J.R., 2009. Sequential development of metamorphic core complexes: numerical simulations and comparison to the Cyclades, Greece. In: van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Edwards, M.A., Govers, R. (Eds.), Collision and Collapse at the Africa–Arabia–Eurasia Subduction Zone: Geological Society, London, Special Publication, pp. 257–292.
- Topuz, G., Altherr, R., Schwarz, W.H., Dokuz, A., Meyer, H.-P., 2007. Variscan amphibolite-facies rocks from the Kurtoglu metamorphic complex (Gümüshane area, Eastern Pontides, Turkey). International Journal of Earth Sciences 96, 861–873.
- Torsvik, T.H., Cocks, L.R.M., 2009. The Lower Palaeozoic palaeogeographical evolution of the northeastern and eastern peri-Gondwanan margin from Turkey to New Zealand. In: Bassett, M.G. (Ed.), Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 325, pp. 3–21.

- Torsvik, T.H., Müller, R.D., Van der Voo, R., Steinberger, B., Gaina, C., 2008. Global plate motion frames: toward a unified model. Reviews of Geophysics 41, RG3004. doi: 10.1029/2007RG000227.
- van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Boekhout, F., 2009. Neogene brittle detachment faulting on Kos during formation of the Cycladic–Menderes metamorphic core complex (Greece/ Turkey). In: van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Edwards, M.A., Govers, R. (Eds.), Collision and Collapse at the Africa–Arabia–Eurasia Subduction Zone: Geological Society, London, Special Publications, pp. 311–320.
- van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Meulenkamp, J.E., 2006. Neogene supra-detachment basin development on Crete (Greece) during exhumation of the South Aegean core complex. Basin Research 18, 103–124.
- van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Hafkenscheid, E., Spakman, W., Meulenkamp, J.E., Wortel, M.J.R., 2005a. Nappe stacking resulting from subduction of oceanic and continental lithosphere below Greece. Geology 33 (4), 325–328.
- van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Langereis, C.G., Meulenkamp, J.E., 2005b. Revision of the timing, magnitude and distribution of Neogene rotations in the western Aegean region. Tectonophysics 396, 1–34.
- van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Zachariasse, W.J., Wortel, M.J.R., Meulenkamp, J.E., 2005c. Underthrusting and exhumation: a comparison between the External Hellenides and the "hot" Cycladic and "cold" South Aegean core complexes (Greece). Tectonics 24 (2), TC2011. doi: 10.1029/2004TC001692.
- van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Krijgsman, W., Langereis, C.G., Cornée, J.J., Duermeijer, C.E., van Vugt, N., 2007. Discrete Plio-Pleistocene phases of tilting and counterclockwise rotation in the southeastern Aegean arc (Rhodos, Greece): early Pliocene formation of the south Aegean left-lateral strike-slip system. Journal of the Geological Society of London 164, 1133–1144.
- van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Dupont-Nivet, G., Nakov, R., Oud, K., Panaiotu, C., 2008. No significant post-Eocene rotation of the Moesian Platform and Rhodope (Bulgaria): implications for the kinematic evolution of the Carpathian and Aegean arcs. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 273, 345–358.
- van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Dekkers, M.J., Koç, A., 2010a. Testing Miocene remagnetization of Bey Daglari: Timing and amount of Neogene rotations in SW Turkey. Turkish Journal of Earth Sciences 19, 123–156.
- van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Dekkers, M.J., Bozkurt, E., Koopman, M., 2010b. Exhumation with a twist: paleomagnetic constraints on the evolution of the Menderes metamorphic core complex (western Turkey). Tectonics 29, TC3009. doi: 10.1029/2009TC002596.
- Verge, N., 1993. The exhumation of the Menderes massif metamorphic core complex in Western Anatolia. Terra Abstracts 5, 249.
- Wernicke, B., 1981. Low-angle normal faults in the Basin and Range province: nappe tectonics in an extending orogen. Nature 291, 645–648.
- Whitney, D.L., Bozkurt, E., 2002. Metamorphic history of the southern Menderes massif, western Turkey. Geological Society of America Bulletin 114 (7), 829–838.
- Whitney, D.L., Teyssier, C., Kruckenberg, S.C., Morgan, V.L., Iredale, L.J., 2008. High-pressure-low-temperature metamorphism of metasedimentary rocks, southern Menderes Massif, western Turkey. Lithos 101, 218–232.
 Woodside, J., Mascle, J., Huguen, C., Volkonskaia, A., 2000. The Rhodes basin, a post-
- Woodside, J., Mascle, J., Huguen, C., Volkonskaia, A., 2000. The Rhodes basin, a post-Miocene tectonic trough. Marine Geology 165, 1–12.
- Yağmurlu, F., 1991. Stratigraphy and depositional environments of Yalvaç-Yarıkkaya Neogene basin, SW-Anatolia. Geological Bulletin of Turkey 34, 9–19.
- Yalçin, Ü., Schreyer, W., Medenbach, O., 1993. Zn-rich högbomite from gahnite in the metabauxites of the Menderes Massif, SW Turkey. Contributions in Mineralogy and Petrology 113, 314–324.
- Zachariasse, W.J., van Hinsbergen, D.J.J., Fortuin, A.R., 2008. Mass wasting and uplift on Crete and Karpathos (Greece) during the early Pliocene related to beginning of south Aegean left-lateral, strike slip tectonics. Geological Society of America Bulletin 120, 976–993.
- Zachariasse, W.J., van Hinsbergen, D.J.J. and Fortuin, A.R., in revision. Foundering and demise of a Tortonian supradetachment basin (central Crete, Greece). Basin Research.
- Zitter, T.A.C., Woodside, J.M., Mascle, J., 2003. The Anaximander Mountains: a clue to the tectonics of southwest Anatolia. Geological Magazine 38, 375–394.